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IN THE STATE OF MISSOURI 
JACKSON COUNTY SIXTEENTH CIRCUIT COURT  

AT INDEPENDENCE 
 

SAMUEL K. LIPARI,    ) 
      ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 

v.     ) Case No. 0916-CV38273 
      ) Division 15 
CHAPEL RIDGE MULTIFAMILY LLC, et al.,  ) 
      ) 
    Defendants. ) 
 

CORECTED PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE A SUR-REPLY SUGGESTION  
IN OPPOSITION AND SUR-REPLY SUGGESTION IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS 

GENERAL ELECTRIC, GE CAPITAL, GE TRANSPORTATION, and JEFFREY R. IMMELT’S 
REPLY SUGGESTION IN SUPPORT OF DISMISSAL FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM 

 
 The petitioner Samuel K. Lipari gives the following suggestions of law revealing the newly raised 

misrepresentations and frivolousness of GENERAL ELECTRIC, GE CAPITAL, GE 

TRANSPORTATION, and JEFFREY R. IMMELT’s Reply Motion to Dismiss. The motion should be 

denied for the following reasons: 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. GENERAL ELECTRIC, GE CAPITAL, GE TRANSPORTATION, and JEFFREY R. IMMELT made a  

members.  

2.The plaintiff filed a timely response to the GE defendants’ reply motion that sought an extension for 

filing a motion for leave of the court to file a sur-reply entitled: “Motion For Extension Of Time To File A 

Sur-Reply To The General Electric Defendants’ Response To Plaintiff’s Suggestion In Opposition To 

Dismissal” 

3. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) raised a 

factual issue for the first time that the GE property manager George Fricke identified in the Amended 

Petition as acting as an agent of the GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY with apparent authority of the 

corporation in fact works for a wholly owned subsidiary corporation.  

4. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants did not disclose this fact in their answer to the plaintiff’s breach 

of contract claim before the 16th Circuit Court at Independence, Missouri when the claim was styled Lipari 

v. GE et al. Case No. 0616-cv07421 (See Exhibit 1)  

5. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants did not raise this issue or disclose this fact in 
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1the course of the numerous preceding litigations over this claim since the plaintiff filed his action in 2003. 

6. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants state the George Fricke is an employee of GE in their answer in 

the 16th Circuit Court by attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) to the plaintiff’s petition at page 5, 35. 

(See Exhibit 1) 

 
UETA Defense Raised Improperly In a Pre Missouri UETA Contract 
 
7. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) raise for the 

first time in their response to the plaintiff’s suggestion in opposition to dismissal a legal issue to 

enforcement of the electronic contract the plaintiff’s petition alleges is enforceable under the federal E-Sign 

Act.  

8. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) now claim an 

issue to distinguish controlling case law raised by the plaintiff by now arguing the electronic contract is 

enforceable because a required consent to the use of electronic methods was not present. 7. The issue raised 

by the GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants-consent to the use of electronic methods - through attorney John 

Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) is a requirement of Missouri after adoption of the Uniform Electronic 

Transactions Act (UETA) 432.200 to 432.295, RSMo Supp. 2003. 

9. The plaintiff’s Amended Petition alleges GENERAL ELECTRIC accepted the electronic contract on 

May 15, 2003.  

10. Missouri had not passed UETA at the time of the contract between GENERAL ELECTRIC and the 

plaintiff’s corporation Medical Supply Chain, Inc. and therefore electronic contracts in this state were 

controlled by the E-Sign Act: 

“In simplest terms, E-SIGN provides for equivalent treatment of electronic records and signatures 
with written records and signatures in transactions in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce and 
preempts all state laws on electronic signatures and electronic records that are inconsistent with E-
SIGN. Congress viewed E-SIGN as a way to "protect and foster commerce during this transition 
period [to the adoption of UETA] by providing a predictable legal regime governing electronic 
signatures."5 E-SIGN does not preempt a state's enacted version of UETA if the applicable state 
enacts a "clean" version of UETA. That is, if a state enacts a version of UETA that is identical to the 
original NCCUSL version or one that contains only limited variations specified under E-SIGN, it 
will not be preempted.6 In a sense, E-SIGN represents the beginning of a likely trend of 
federalization of traditional areas of state commerce law in order to facilitate international e- 
commerce standards. Since E-SIGN's effective date of October 1, 2000, 40 states have enacted 
UETA.7 Most, if not all, of the remaining states have introduced and at least partially considered 
UETA. UETA has been introduced in the Missouri legislature in both the 2001 and 2002 sessions, 
but, while approved by the Missouri Senate, UETA has not been enacted by the full Missouri 
legislature.8 
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Electronic Signatures In Missouri: Moving To UETA Or Staying With E-SIGN; Charles H. Fendell and 

Dennis M. Kennedy of the Intellectual Property and Information Technology Practice Area Thompson 

Coburn LLP Winter 2003. (See Exhibit 2)  

11. The issue the GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) 

have raised to distinguish the controlling case law cited by the plaintiff did not exist as a requirement for 

electronic contracts at the time the Amended Petition alleges an electronic contract was formed, or at the 

time that the Amended Petition alleges the GE defendants repudiated the contract or even at the time the 

demand was made for redress from the GE defendants: 

“In the 2003 legislative session last spring, the Missouri legislature enacted House Bill 254, which created 
the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA) in Missouri and repealed the old Missouri Digital 
Signatures Act. Governor Holden signed the bill on June 9, 2003, and it became effective on August 28, 
2003.” 
 
Electronic Transactions Act in Missouri; John A. Niemoeller. Journal of The Missouri Bar March-April 

2004. (See Exhibit 3)  

12. The issue -consent to the use of electronic methods -raised by the GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants 

through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) is the major difference between enforceability of 

electronic contracts in Missouri after UETA became effective on August 28, 2003: 

“4. Major Differences Between E-SIGN and UETA. *** Agreement to Use Electronic 
Methods. UETA provides that both parties must consent to the use of electronic methods. This 
consent may be inferred from the actions of the parties or other evidence. Critics of UETA point out 
that this approach may lead to situations where a consumer agrees to electronic methods 
unwittingly. In addition, unlike E-SIGN, there is no requirement that the ability to receive electronic 
notice must be confirmed. The wording of E-SIGN, on the other hand, states only that a party may 
not be "required" to use electronic methods. This language has led some commentators to question 
whether the consent of both parties is required, especially in a business-to-business transaction.” 

 
Electronic Signatures In Missouri: Moving To UETA Or Staying With E-SIGN; 

Charles H. Fendell and Dennis M. Kennedy of the Intellectual Property and Information Technology 

Practice Area Thompson Coburn LLP Winter 2003 

http://www.thompsoncoburn.com/Articles/CHF001.aspx (See Exhibit 2)  

13. The issue the GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants now raise improperly in a reply falsely states that the 

plaintiff has abandoned his action for breach of an electronic contract when the plaintiff’s suggestion in 

opposition argued E-Sign controlled the issues of the Statute of Frauds and signature raised by the 

defendants in their motion to dismiss. 
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George Fricke Authority Defense Raised Improperly 

14. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants now raise improperly in a reply the false representation that the 

plaintiff did not plead that GE accepted the contract terms through George Fricke who acted with authority 

to accept the contract: 

“Here, Plaintiff did not plead and can not plead that George Fricke had written 
authorization to enter into the agreement. Therefore, the purported agreement violates the 
Statute of Frauds. Plaintiff's inability to allege a written authorization is fatal to his breach 
of contract claim and the court should dismiss Count III.” 
 

GE’s Reply to plaintiff’s Answer to Motion to Dismiss at page 6. 

15. In fact, the Amended Petition adopting the same words as the petition upheld by Hon. Senior Judge 

Nixon stated facts supporting that George Fricke held himself out to be acting on the authority of 

GENERAL ELECTRIC as both the corporate officer in charge of making decisions over the property being 

sold and in representing that “business leaders” had accepted the deal.  

 

John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) Raised Improperly Judgments He Procured Through Fraud  

16. In the reply by the GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants, their attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) 

supports his spurious arguments with outcomes from litigation between the plaintiff, his dissolved Missouri 

corporation Medical Supply Chain, Inc. and the Novation LLC Cartel’s racketeering enterprise members 

including the GENERAL ELCTRIC defendants. 

17. The outcomes referenced by the GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants’ reply (with the exception of the 

16th Circuit determination by Hon. Senior Judge Nixon that the plaintiff’s contract claims against the 

GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants sufficiently stated a claim for breach of contract and damges) are not 

with Claim or Issue Preclusive effect over the current amended petition’s claims against the GENERAL 

ELECTRIC defendants. 

18. The outcomes in preceding litigation were obtained through fraud on the court as a regular way of 

conducting business and for which the current RICO co-defendants are now being civilly prosecuted by the 

plaintiff for in this action.  

19. The present amended petition identifies the preceding litigation and the extrinsic fraud committed by 

the Novation LLC Cartel’s racketeering enterprise members including the GENERAL ELCTRIC 
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defendants to procure void and voidable judgments causing any defense now raised by the GENERAL 

ELECTRIC defendants to be material facts in dispute and solely the province of the jury to decide.  

20. The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) has participated and 

directed much of the fraud on the court and extrinsic fraud employed by the the Novation LLC Cartel’s 

racketeering enterprise members including the GENERAL ELCTRIC defendants to procure void and 

voidable judgments. 

21. On 02/21/2006 John K. Power, # 70448 filed a motion for a hearing on an earlier motion to dismiss in  

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC. v. NOVATION, LLC, et al.,KS Dist. Court Case 2:05-cv-02299-CM-GL, 

Document 76-1 that falsely misrepresented the face of the plaintiff’s complaint in order to procure 

corruptly a fraudulent judgment from US District Judge Carols Murguia (identified in the plaintiff’s 

Amended Petition before this court). See Exhibit 4 

22. On 03/05/2006, the plaintiff’s attorney Ira Dennis Hawver filed an answer to John K. Power # 70448 

filed a motion for a hearing that pointed out the numerous frauds John K. Power # 70448 committed on the 

US District Court in his motion for a hearing. See Exhibit 5 

23. Because of John K. Power # 70448 and the Novation LLC Cartel’s racketeering enterprise members’ 

use of this fraud to attempt to procure a fraudulent judgment before the Western District of Missouri US 

District Court, the conduct became an issue in the RICO and RICO Conspiracy case preceding the present 

action against the latecomer RICO defendants and John K. Power’s ( Mo Lic. # 70448)frauds on the court 

leading to the deaths of Missourians in market for hospital supplies were detailed : 

“33. The defendants use the dismissal of Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, et al., case 
no. 05- 2299 that was obtained through the extrinsic fraud filing of Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., 
University Healthsystem Consortium Robert Baker And Curt Nonomaque’s Motion To Set Oral 
Hearing On Motion To Dismiss , (Doc 76-1) filed on 02/21/2006 in Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. 
Neoforma, et al by John K. Power, # 70448 of Jeffrey Immelt and the GE defendants’ law firm 
Husch Blackwell Sanders LLP. 
34. The defendants repeatedly cite to Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, et al., case no. 05-
2299 as authority advocating the ruling should control the present action in another district and 
another circuit.  
35. The GE Defendants obtained the ruling in Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. Neoforma, et al., case 
no. 05-2299 where their cartel co-conspirators Novation LLC and Neoforma, Inc were at risk by 
filing a fraudulent pleading by John K. Power of Husch Blackwell Sanders LLP (Exb. 12 [Exhibit 
4].) Motion for Hearing while knowing the Kansas District Court had been persuaded through ex 
parte communication to not even read the petitioner’s filing in response. 
36. The fraud is readily discernable on its face the petitioner’s complaint stated all the requisite 
elements for each federal count. See Exb 13 [Exhibit 5]. Plaintiff’s Response to Motion for Oral 
hearing  
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37. The elements for the antitrust and RICO claims are referenced by element and paragraph 
number in the complaint in the plaintiff’s appeal brief statement of facts at pgs. 19-32. See Exb 14 
[Exhibit 6]. Lipari Neoforma Appeal Brief Statement of Facts.” [Emphasis added (current exhibit 
numbers inserted)] 
 

24. The plaintiff actuality stated each element for each count and included supporting facts which were all 

in a table of contents to the complaint corruptly dismissed through the criminal conduct of Missouri 

Licensed Attorney John K. Power # 70448. See Exhibit 6 

25. In a reaction to and solely because of Missouri Licensed Attorney John K. Power # 70448 frauulent 

misrepresentations of the face of the plaintiff’s antitrust complaint, US District Court Judge Carlos Murguia 

did not wait for Dennis Hawver’s timely response but instead dismissed the antitrust complaint and 

threatened sanctions against anyone who attempted to further represent the plaintiff.  

26. Missouri Licensed Attorney John K. Power # 70448 also participated directly in preventing the plaintiff 

from obtaining the representation of Missouri licensed attorneys in the concurrent state law antitrust claims 

by the plaintiff and John K. Power # 70448 is detailed in that petition and its appendices in the 16th Circuit 

court case Lipari v. Novation et al, 16th Circuit Court Case No. 08-04217. See 

http://www.medicalsupplychain.com/pdf/Lipari%20v%20Novation%20et%20al%20Petition%20.pdf and 

http://www.medicalsupplychain.com/pdf/Appendix%20Five%20GE%20relationships.pdf 

27. The recent order of the Western District of Missouri State Court of Appeals became void for 

constitutional reasons as a direct result of Missouri Licensed Attorney John K. Power # 70448 and the 

Novation LLC Cartel’s racketeering enterprise members’s repeated use of extrinsic fraud to fix the 

outcomes of the plaintiff’s litigation by preventing the plaintiff from having legal representation by 

Missouri licensed attorneys. See 

http://www.medicalsupplychain.com/pdf/Application%20for%20Transfer%20Under%20Rule%2083.02%2

0CV70832.pdf 

 

SUGGESTION IN OPPOSITION 

There is neither the authority under the Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure to raise new issues in a 

reply to an answer opposing a motion to dismiss or to bring a sur-reply to address issues improperly raised 

for the first time in a reply to an answer. Rule 55.01 states: 
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“RULE 55.01 PLEADING REQUIRED 

There shall be a petition and an answer; and there shall be a reply to a counterclaim 
denominated as such; an answer to a cross-claim, if the answer contains a cross-claim; a third-party 
petition, if leave is given to summon a person who was not an original party; and there shall be a 
third-party answer, if a third-party petition is served. A defense consisting of an affirmative 
avoidance to any matter alleged in a preceding pleading must be pleaded. No other pleading shall be 
required except as ordered by the court.” 

 
Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 55.01 

 Making a motion under Rule 55.08 on an affirmative defense of failure to state a claim under 

does not have the provision for a sur-reply in under Rule 55.27 like that contained in Missouri’s 

summary judgment motion’s rule, Rule 74.04 (c)(4) therefore the plaintiff is prejudiced by the 

GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants improperly raising arguments for dismissal for the first time in a 

motion replying to the plaintiff’s answer.  

 The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 

470448) have again resorted to the Novation LLC Cartel’s tactics of misrepresenting the facts in the 

plaintiff’s petition and misrepresenting the applicable law in order to procure a dismissal through fraud on 

the court.  

 The GENERAL ELECTRIC defendants through attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 70448) 

misrepresent the controlling law of the state law claims by introducing new legal issues in violation of the 

Missouri Rules of Civil Procedure. The court and the parties are best served when the plaintiff has the 

opportunity to adequately research the applicable authorities. A concern attorney John Power (MO. Lic. # 

70448) is visually not burdened buy when he raises issues without the required diligence of his profession 

or in a continuing overt campaign to deceive the tribunals he is appearing before. 

Since the 16th Circuit Court has already found that the plaintiff has standing to bring his contract 

claims against GENERAL ELECTRIC, GE CAPITAL,and  GE TRANSPORTATION  and the factual 

allegations (which are materially the same in the present Amended Petition) sufficiently state a claim for 

breach of contract against GENERAL ELECTRIC, GE CAPITAL,and  GE TRANSPORTATION, the 

plaintiff will clarify that the Amended Petition identifies George Fricke as an employee of GENERAL  

ELECTRIC who had the authority to enter into the contract breached by GENERAL  ELECTRIC. The 
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other defendants had the capacity to enter into the contract and to work to tortiously interfere with the 

contract or business expectancy under Missouri law.  

The Missouri legislature did not retroactively and could not have retroactively added requirements 

for electronic contracts accepted on May 15, 2003 under the Electronic Signatures in Global and National 

Commerce Act ("ESIGN") Pub. L. No. 106-229, 114 Stat. 464 (2000) (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq. 

after adoption of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA) 432.200 to 432.295, RSMo Supp. 2003 

on June 9, 2003, and on its face UETA did not become effective until August 28, 2003. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 Whereas for the above reasons, the plaintiff respectfully requests that GENERAL ELECTRIC, GE 

CAPITAL, GE TRANSPORTATION, and JEFFREY R. IMMELT’s Reply be stricken and GENERAL 

ELECTRIC, GE CAPITAL, GE TRANSPORTATION, and JEFFREY R. IMMELT’s Motion to Dismiss 

be denied.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

S/ Samuel K. Lipari 
SAMUEL K. LIPARI  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and accurate copy of the foregoing instrument was 
forwarded this 26th day of April 2010 by hand delivery, by first class mail postage prepaid, or by 
email to: 

 
 
Marrow, Willnauer & Klosterman, LLC 
James C. Morrow #32658 
Abagil L. Pierpoint #59997 
Executive Hills East, Bldg. A 
10401 Holmes Suite 300 
Kansas City, MO 64131; (816) 382-1382 
jmorrow@mwklaw.com 
apierpoint@mwklaw.com 
 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT  
SWANSON & MIDGLEY LLC,  
CHRISTOPHER BARHORST 
HOLLY L FISHER  
4600 MADISON STE 1100  
KANSAS CITY, MO 64112; (816) 842-6100 
cbarhorst@swansonmidgley.com 
hfisher@swansonmidgley.com 
 
 
Horn Aylward & Bandy, LLC 
Danne W. Webb #39384 
2600 Grand Blvd. Suite 1100 
Kansas City, MO 64108; (816) 421-0700 
dwebb@hab-law.com 
 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 
CHAPEL RIDGE MULTIFAMILY LLC; 3460 
NE AKIN BOULEVARD LEES SUMMIT, MO 
64064  
 
 
Bryan Cave, LLP 
Keitha M. Wright #58646 
1200 Main Street Suite 3500  
Kansas City, MO 64105 
816-374-3370 (direct) 
keitha.wright@bryancave.com 
  
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT’S LEANNE 
ZELLMER 2300 MAIN ST. STE 900 KANSAS 
CITY, MO 64108; (816) 448-3100 
lianne.zellmer@regus.com 
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REGUS PLC; 26 BOULEVARD ROYAL L-
2449 LUXEMBOURG; +44 (0) 1932 895059 
C/O REGUS PLC REGISTERED OFFICE 22 
GRENVILLE STREET; ST. HELIER; JERSEY, 
JE4 8PX   
REGUS MANGEMENT GROUP LLC; 15305 
DALLAS PARKWAY STE 1400 ADDISON, 
TX  75001 C/O REGISTERED AGENT CSC 
LAWYERS INCORPORATING SERVICE, 
INC.; 150 S PERRY ST. MONTGOMERY, AL 
36104 
 
 
Deacy & Deacy, LLP 
Spencer J. Brown #18616 
920 Main Street, Suite 1900 
Kansas City, MO 64105 (816) 421-4000 
cld@deacylaw.com 
 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT’S 
TROPPITO & MILLER LLC 
508 WALNUT STREET  
KANSAS CITY, MO 64106 (816) 221-6006 
 
 
Troppito & Miller, LLC 
508 Walnut Street  
Kansas City, MO 64106 (816) 221-6006 
 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 
NICHOLAS L. ACKERMAN #54761 
CHRIS L TROPPITO 
TONY R MILLER 
508 WALNUT STREET  
KANSAS CITY, MO 64106 (816) 221-6006 
nla@troppitomiller.com 
trm@troppitomiller.com 
cmt@troppitomiller.com 
 
 
South & Associates, P.C. 
Blaine Dickeson #57938 
6363 College Blvd. Suite 100 
Overland Park, KS 66211 (913) 663-7600 
blaine.dickeson@southlaw.com 
 
ATTORNEY FOR WACHOVIA DEALER 
SERVICES INC.; 8575 W 110TH ST, STE 100 
OVERLAND PARK, KS 66210 WELLS 
FARGO; 420 MONTGOMERY STREET, SAN 
FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94163; (866) 
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249-3302   
 
 
Husch Blackwell Sanders LLP    
John K. Power #70448 
Michael S. Hargens #51077 
Sean Laferte #60403 
4801 Main Street Suite 1100    
Kansas City, MO 64105 (816) 983-8000    
john.power@huschblackwell.com 
michael.thompson@huschblackwell.com 
sean.laferte@huschblackwell.com 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR, GENERAL ELECTRIC 
COMPANY, GENERAL ELECTRIC 
CAPITAL BUSINESS ASSET FUNDING 
ORPORATION AND GE 
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL 
SIGNALING, LLC, JEFFREY R. IMMELT 
3135 EASTON TURNPIKE 
FAIRFIELD, CT 06828-0001 (203) 373-2211 

 
 
 

S/ Samuel K. Lipari 
SAMUEL K. LIPARI  
803 S. Lake Drive 
Independence, MO 64064  
816.507.1328   
saml@medicalsupplychain.com 
Plaintiff, Pro Se 

 
 



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY
AT INDEPENDENCE

SAMUEL K. LIPARI
(Statutory Trustee of Dissolved
Medical Supply Chain, Inc.)

Plaintiff,

V
.
GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, et al.,

Defendants.

Case No. 0616-cv07421

0912451.01

)))
ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S PETITION

Defendants General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding

Corporation and GE Transportation Systems Global Signaling, LLC (the "GE Defendants")

Answer Plaintiff's Petition as follows:

1. Pa ra g ra p h  1 o f Plaintiff's Petition states a legal conclusion which requires neither

an admission nor a denial. T o  the extent that paragraph 1 is not a legal conclusion, the GE

Defendants deny the allegations.

2. T h e  GE Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 2 of Plaintiff's

Petition.

3. T h e  GE Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 3 o f Plaintiffs

Petition.

4. T h e  GE Defendants deny the allegations contained in paragraph 4 o f Plaintiff's

Petition.

5. T h e  GE Defendants admit that the Kansas Federal Court dismissed Plaintiffs

state law claims without prejudice. T h e  GE Defendants deny the remaining allegations

contained in paragraph 5.

Exhibit 1



































SAMUEL K. LIPARI
(Statutory Trustee of Dissolved
Medical Supply Chain, Inc.)

v
.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

0912209.01

)
)
)
)

Plaintiff, )
)))

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, )
GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL BUSINESS )
ASSET FUNDIGN CORPORATION, )

GE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS GLOBAL)
SIGNALING, L.L.C. )

CARPET n, MORE, and )
STEWART FOSTER )

)
Defendants. )

Case No. 06-0573-CV-W-EIG

NOTICE OF REMOVAL

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI:

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441 et seq., Defendants General Electric Company, General

Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation and GE Transportation Systems Global

Signaling, LLC ("GE Defendants") hereby submit this Notice of Removal to the United States

District Court for the Western District of Missouri, from the Circuit Court of Jackson County,

Missouri. As grounds for removal, GE Defendants state as follows:

1. G E  Defendants desire to exercise their right under the provision o f 28 U.S.C.

§ 1441-1452, to remove this case from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Missouri, in which

court said cause was pending under the name and style of Samuel K. Lipari v. General Electric

Company, et al, Case No. 0616-cv07421.

2. 2 8  U.S.C. § 1441(a) provides:
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electronic signatures in missouri: 

moving to ueta or staying with e-sign

winter 2003

By Charles H. Fendell and Dennis M. Kennedy of the Intellectual

Property and Information Technology Pratice Area

We recently marked the second anniversary of the federal Electronic

Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, widely known as "E-

SIGN."1 In 2000, then President Clinton signed E-SIGN with much

fanfare and publicity, and E-SIGN was touted as an essential building

block for the development of e-commerce. E-SIGN was necessary due

to, among other things, (1) the uncertainty surrounding the use of

electronic signatures and electronic records in contracts, and (2) the

failure of states to alleviate this uncertainty by enacting uniform state

laws. The Uniform Electronic Transaction Act ("UETA")2 is a model

statute that was drafted before E-SIGN by the National Conference of

Commissioners on Uniform State Laws ("NCCUSL") in order to provide

uniformity among state laws with respect to electronic signatures and

electronic records.3 However, at the time E-SIGN was enacted, many

states had failed to enact UETA, and some states, notably California,

enacted non-uniform versions of UETA by, among other things, adding

consumer protection provisions.4 Thus, it was apparent to Congress

that relying on the 50 states to adopt UETA in piecemeal fashion would

not result in the uniformity necessary to let e-commerce develop.

In simplest terms, E-SIGN provides for equivalent treatment of

electronic records and signatures with written records and signatures in

transactions in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce and

preempts all state laws on electronic signatures and electronic records

that are inconsistent with E-SIGN. Congress viewed E-SIGN as a way to

"protect and foster commerce during this transition period [to the

adoption of UETA] by providing a predictable legal regime governing

electronic signatures."5 E-SIGN does not preempt a state's enacted

version of UETA if the applicable state enacts a "clean" version of UETA.

That is, if a state enacts a version of UETA that is identical to the

original NCCUSL version or one that contains only limited variations

specified under E-SIGN, it will not be preempted.6 In a sense, E-SIGN

represents the beginning of a likely trend of federalization of traditional

areas of state commerce law in order to facilitate international e-

commerce standards.

Since E-SIGN's effective date of October 1, 2000, 40 states have

enacted UETA.7 Most, if not all, of the remaining states have introduced

and at least partially considered UETA. UETA has been introduced in the

Missouri legislature in both the 2001 and 2002 sessions, but, while

approved by the Missouri Senate, UETA has not been enacted by the full

Missouri legislature.8

This article provides some background on UETA and E-SIGN and

addresses the impact, both legally and otherwise, of Missouri's failure to

adopt UETA and the implications of relying upon E-SIGN for Missouri's

law on electronic signatures and electronic records. Are there

advantages or disadvantages of not adopting UETA? If the

disadvantages outweigh the advantages, as this article will conclude,

what steps should Missouri take?

1. General Principles of E-SIGN and UETA.

Exhibit 2
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Both UETA and E-SIGN were designed to be limited in scope and not to

change the underlying substantive law. Both provide for an equivalency

of electronic signatures and electronic records with writings and

signatures on paper. They are also both technology-neutral. That is,

unlike now-pre-empted older digital signatures acts, such as Section

28.600, R.S.Mo. UETA and E-SIGN do not specific any technology which

should be used. Both also provide in principle the freedom to use or not

use electronic records and electronic signatures.9

Both E-SIGN and UETA also have common objectives with other

international efforts to set standards for e-commerce. First they

attempt to remove perceived barriers to the free flow of e-commerce.

Second, they are intended to increase speed in both contract formation

and the giving of notices. Third, and outside the scope of this article,

they encourage and permit the use and retention of electronic records.

Fourth, they allow parties to conduct business in a way that provide

substantial cost savings through the elimination of paper and otherwise

take full advantage of electronic commerce.

The initial question is what, if anything, are these laws necessary for?

There has been some confusion over whether the enactment of E-SIGN

or UETA was necessary to make an electronic contract enforceable. The

answer is no. Courts have been enforcing electronic contracts without

traditional signatures and/or writings prior to the enactment of E-SIGN

or UETA and some courts have concluded that electronic documents

satisfy statutory "writing" requirements.10 More importantly, however,

is that many contracts, even prior to the e-commerce era, were not

required by law to be in writing or signed. In each of these cases,

electronic records and electronic signatures are and have been

acceptable even in the absence of E-SIGN or UETA.

A. Is a writing or a signature required to create an

enforceable contract?

Any analysis of the impact of E-SIGN or UETA begins with the simple

question of whether a writing or a signature is required for the

transaction or contract at issue.

The traditional elements of a contract include offer, acceptance and

bargained for consideration.11 UCC Section 2-204(1) addresses the

elements of a contract and specifies that "a contract for sale of goods

may be made in any manner sufficient to show agreement, including

conduct by both parties, which recognizes the existence of such

contract." (emphasis added)

Under both the traditional contract approach and the UCC, writing or a

signature is not expressly required for a contract to be enforceable.

Examples of contracts not documented by a traditional writing include

handshake or oral agreements and clickwrap or click-through

agreements.12 Examples of contracts not requiring signatures include

shrinkwrap licenses, tickets or click-through agreements. E-SIGN and

UETA come into play only when a law requires that a contract and/or

signature be in writing to be enforceable. Therefore, if there is a

requirement for a contract to be in writing or signed, it must come from

another state or federal law.

B. Requirements for Writing or Signature.

The principal source of a writing requirement for contracts is the

general statute of frauds of a state.13 Examples of contracts that will

not be enforced unless in writing under the statue of frauds include

conveyance of real estate, contracts that cannot be completed within

one year, guarantees to pay the debt of another, and leases for more

than one year. The UCC statute of frauds requires written contracts for

the sale of goods having a value greater than $500 and for the lease of

goods where the total payments are greater than $1,000.14 There may
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goods where the total payments are greater than $1,000.14 There may

be a variety of other statutes that require certain types of contracts be

in writing, contain certain language to be presented in a certain font or

in boldface, or to include a signature. In some states, the number of

statutes with writing requirements or signature requirements can total

in the thousands.15

Writing or signature requirements may also arise under federal law.

Examples include copyright assignments and exclusive licenses,

trademark and patent assignments.16 Other laws and regulations also

have certain requirements for writing, particularly in the area of

consumer notices and disclosures. Examples include consumer lease

disclosures, truth-in-lending disclosures and privacy notices.

C. Key Questions.

Unless there is a legal writing or signature requirement, a contract need

not be in writing or be signed to be enforceable. In cases where there is

no applicable legal writing or signature requirement, E-SIGN and UETA

will play no role. Those types of contracts can be and could have always

been transacted using electronic methods.

If there is a legal writing or signature requirement for the subject

matter of the contract and/or related notice, the key questions become,

as applicable: (1) does an electronic record satisfy the writing

requirement and/or (2) does an electronic signature satisfy the

signature requirement?

In simplest terms, E-SIGN and UETA answer both questions in the

affirmative. If there is a writing requirement, an electronic record will

satisfy it. If there is a signature requirement, an electronic signature

will satisfy it. However, E-SIGN and UETA are not intended to change

substantive contract law. All other requirements of contracts must be

satisfied and all defenses are applicable. In the case of electronic

signatures, all other requirements associated with traditional written

signatures, such as competency, intent to sign and the like must also

be met.

2. E-SIGN.

As a general matter, E-SIGN provides that electronic signatures and

electronic records satisfy a legal requirement for writing or signature

with respect to a transaction in or affecting interstate or foreign

commerce. More specifically, Section 101(a) of E-SIGN states that "(1)

a signature, contract, or other record relating to such transaction may

not be denied legal effect, validity, or enforceability solely because it is

in electronic form; and (2) a contract relating to such transaction may

not be denied legal effect, validity, or enforceability solely because an

electronic signature or electronic record was used in its formation." E-

SIGN also authorizes substitution of electronic notices for paper notices,

including many, but not all, consumer notices.

E-SIGN takes a minimalist and procedural approach. Section 7001(b)(1)

provides E-SIGN does not "limit, alter, or otherwise affect any

requirement imposed by a statute, regulation, or rule of law relating to

the rights and obligations of persons under such statute, regulation, or

rule of law other than a requirement that contracts or other records be

written, signed, or in nonelectronic form." It also adopts the principal of

freedom of the parties to use electronic methods. Section 7001(b)2

states that E-SIGN does not "require any person to agree to use or

accept electronic records or electronic signatures, other than a

governmental agency with respect to a record other than a contract to

which it is a party." As we will discuss later, E-SIGN's approach to

freedom to use electronic contracting is somewhat different that that of

UETA.

The definitions of E-SIGN are broad. The term "electronic record" means

a contract or other record created, generated, sent, communicated,
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received, or stored by electronic means.17 An electronic signature

means an electronic sound, symbol, or process, attached to or logically

associated with a contract or other record and executed or adopted by a

person with the intent to sign the record.18 It is worth noting that

electronic sounds, symbols and processes can all be electronic

signatures. For example, in exchange of voicemails or emails might well

constitute an electronic signature. In addition, the electronic signature

must be attached to or logically associated with the contract and there

must be an intent to sign the record.

The term "transaction" is especially important under E-SIGN because it

relates to the conduct of business, consumer or commercial affairs

between two or more persons.19 Standard sales, leases, exchanges,

licenses or other disposition of property all qualify as "transactions".

Living wills and health care power of attorneys do not qualify as

"transactions" because they do not involve commercial matters between

two people. In addition, E-SIGN explicitly does not apply to wills,

codicils or testamentary trusts, laws governing adoption, divorce, or

other matters of family law, and to the Uniform Commercial Code other

than Section 1-107 and 1-206 and Articles 2 and Article 2A.20

In response to consumer concerns raised about UETA, E-SIGN also

includes a number of consumer protection exceptions. E-SIGN does not

apply to matters such as court orders, notices in documents, notices of

cancellation of utility services, notices of default on mortgages, notices

of cancellation of health or life insurance benefits, notices of product

recalls, and documents related to hazardous materials.21 In the case of

consumer notices, E-SIGN requires specific consent before consumer

notices that required by law can be given electronically. In these cases

the current consumer must provide affirmative consent that has not

been withdrawn. The non-consumer party must obtain consent from a

consumer after it has provided clear and conspicuous statement

informing the consumer of any right or option to receive the information

on paper, how to withdraw the consent and any of the consequences of

withdrawal, how to update contact information, and how to obtain a

paper copy on request and a fee, if any, for that copy. The consumer

must be provided with hardware or software requirements and the

consent must be either obtained or confirmed electronically, not just on

paper. Consent must be reacquired if there is a change in hardware or

software requirements that will create a material risk that the consumer

will not be able to access or store records delivered electronically. In all

events, the manner of obtaining consent must reasonably demonstrate

that the consumer can access information in the electronic form that

will be used to provide that information.22

While E-SIGN is intended to provide certain consumer protections, it

also sets out a complex and cumbersome procedure for obtaining

consent to electronic transactions that will be problematic for both

businesses and consumers.

3. UETA.

In substance, UETA adopts nearly the same minimalist and procedural

approach to electronic signatures and electronic records as does E-

SIGN. A fundamental premise of UETA is that the medium in which a

record, signature, or contract is created, presented or retained should

have no impact on its legal significance.23 The key language of UETA is

very similar to the comparable language in E-SIGN. Section 7 of UETA

provides that:

(a) A record or signature may not be denied legal effect or

enforceability solely because it is in electronic form.

(b) A contract may not be denied legal effect or

enforceability solely because an electronic record was used
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in its formation.

(c) If a law requires a record to be in writing, an electronic

record satisfies the law.

(d) If a law requires a signature, an electronic signature

satisfies the law.

Another important term in UETA, like E-SIGN, is "transaction." UETA

does not apply to all writings and signatures, only to electronic records

and signatures relating to a "transaction," which is defined as those

interactions between people relating to business, commercial and

governmental affairs. UETA, unlike E-SIGN, specifically includes

governmental affairs in the definition of "transaction."24

UETA approaches the principal of freedom to choose electronic methods

somewhat differently than E-SIGN does. Section 5(b) of UETA provides

that UETA applies only to transactions where both parties have agreed

to conduct transactions by electronic means. Whether there is such an

agreement is determined from the context and surrounding

circumstances, including the parties' conduct. Section 5(c) gives a party

that agrees to conduct a transaction by electronic means a nonwaivable

right to refuse to conduct other transactions by electronic means.

Section 5(d) also provides that, with certain exceptions, the parties can

vary the effect of UETA in their agreement.

UETA is in some ways even more minimalist than E-SIGN. It does not

affect wills, codicils, or testamentary trusts or the Uniform Commercial

Code other than Sections 1-107 and 1-206, Article 2, and Article 2A,

and Section 3(d) specifically states that other state substantive law is

applicable. Unlike E-SIGN, UETA does not specifically exempt any

categories of consumer notices. While E-SIGN requires specific and

complex notice procedures, UETA takes a "context and circumstances"

approach to notices and does not address specific consumer protection

scenarios. UETA also permits the consumer to agree to future electronic

notices through a paper notice, without requiring a confirmation that

the consumer can receive electronic notice, a concern the E-SIGN

drafters wanted to address.

UETA also addresses a good number of issues that are not dealt with in

E-SIGN. For example, UETA addresses attribution issues, evidentiary

issues, applicability issues, error correction issues, and sending and

receipt issues. UETA also covers rules for contracts involving electronic

agents in much more detail than does E-SIGN.

4. Major Differences Between E-SIGN and UETA.

This section of this article will highlight and discuss some of the major

differences between E-SIGN and UETA. This discussion is not intended

to be exhaustive.25

Approach to Consumer Protection. E-SIGN was drafted with some

specific consumer protection issues in mind because consumer

advocates were unhappy with UETA's approach to consumer protection.

E-SIGN has elaborate consumer notice provisions and other

mechanisms for consumer protection. UETA specifically defers to state

consumer protection laws and requires only that both parties agree to

use electronic methods. This combined approach is intended to address

consumer protection issues under UETA while giving states the flexibility

to enact other consumer protection laws as appropriate in the future.

Exclusions. E-SIGN has a broader list of exclusions from coverage of

the law. These additional exclusions include family law matters,

foreclosures, and similar matters.

Extent of Coverage. UETA is generally more comprehensive than E-

SIGN. UETA addresses the question of when electronic records are

deemed to be sent and received. UETA covers the issue of attribution of
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signatures. UETA specifies that it applies only to transactions after its

effective date. UETA covers the issue of admissibility of electronic

records into evidence. UETA also addresses changes and errors in

electronic transactions. E-SIGN is silent on each of these matters.

Agreement to Use Electronic Methods. UETA provides that both

parties must consent to the use of electronic methods. This consent

may be inferred from the actions of the parties or other evidence.

Critics of UETA point out that this approach may lead to situations

where a consumer agrees to electronic methods unwittingly.26 In

addition, unlike E-SIGN, there is no requirement that the ability to

receive electronic notice must be confirmed. The wording of E-SIGN, on

the other hand, states only that a party may not be "required" to use

electronic methods. This language has led some commentators to

question whether the consent of both parties is required, especially in a

business-to-business transaction.27

Other State Law. UETA explicitly defers to other substantive state law.

E-SIGN's approach is not to preempt "consistent" laws.

Agreement of Parties. Under UETA, the parties can agree not to have

provisions of UETA apply, such as those relating to the timing of the

receipt of electronic documents. E-SIGN does not have similar

provisions.

Record-keeping. UETA's approach to maintenance of records is less

specific and more flexible than the approach under E-SIGN. UETA also

specifically permits the use of third parties to maintain records. E-SIGN

does not address this issue.

Electronic Agents. The drafters of UETA put a good deal of effort into

the issue of transactions where one party is "represented" and engages

in a transaction by an electronic agent or software program. Those

types of transactions are becoming increasing more common. As a

result, UETA's approach to electronic agents is much more

comprehensive than that of E-SIGN.

Preemption Issues. E-SIGN's preemption rules are complex and

difficult. In some cases, it simply is not clear how the preemption will

work. The adoption of UETA allows a state to avoid these preemption

issues.

5. E-SIGN or UETA for Missouri?

Our analysis of E-SIGN and UETA lead us to the conclusion that

Missouri should follow the other 40 states that have adopted UETA in its

clean form rather than to remain under the default rules of E-SIGN.

One of the primary arguments in favor of E-SIGN is the emphasis it

places on consumer protection.28 It is important to note that those

consumer protections were determined on a national rather than a

Missouri basis. Because UETA explicitly defers to state consumer

protection laws, consumer protection concerns should be addressed in

amendments to the appropriate consumer protection statutes as part of

the passage of UETA.

On many other grounds, UETA is preferable. Especially compelling are

its broader coverage of related e-commerce issues, such as attribution

and timing, its treatment of electronic agents, and its requirement that

parties agree to use electronic methods, highlighting the element of

choice. UETA, because it was drafted through the National Conference

of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws process, in general appears to

be a more thorough and better-drafted law.

By not adopting UETA, Missouri has placed itself in a clear minority of

only ten states that have not addressed the issue of UETA and have

instead acquiesced to the default federal rules of E-SIGN. There is no
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evidence that the remaining non-adopting states have not done so as a

result of opposition to or new concerns about UETA. The continuing

failure to adopt UETA will raise questions whether Missouri will be

considered as a "technology friendly" state to technology companies

considering whether to locate in or relocate to Missouri. Lawyers and

their clients who have an interest in seeing Missouri thought of a leading

technology and e-commerce state will want to make efforts in the next

legislative session to make sure that UETA is fully acted upon and

adopted.
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END NOTES

1 15 USC §7001.

2 The text and official comments of UETA, along with links to related

articles and news, may be found online at http://www.uetaonline.com.

3 Due to the international dimension of e-commerce, UETA itself grew

out of efforts to standardize international e-commerce through the

United Nations Commission on International Trade Laws Model Law on

Electronic Signatures ("UNCITRAL Model Law") and adopts an approach

and method that largely tracks the UNCITRAL Model Law. (For an

excellent discussion of the role the UNCITRAL Model Law played in the

UETA drafting process, see Boss, The Uniform Electronic Transactions

Act in a Global Environment, 37 Idaho L. Rev. 275 (2001).)

4 See generally, Senate Report No. 106-131.

5 Senate Report No. 106-131.

6 15 USC §7002.

7 See list at http://www.bmck.com/ecommerce/uetacomp.htm.

8 See 2002 legislative history of Missouri UETA bill at

http://www.house.state.mo.us/bills02/bills02/sb1014.htm.

9 For an excellent and thorough introduction to UETA and the principles

behind it, see Fry, Introduction to the Uniform Electronic Transactions

Act: Principles, Policies and Provisions, 37 Idaho L. Rev. 237 (2001).

10 E.g., In re RealNetworks, Inc., Privacy Litigation, 2000 WL 6313341

(N.D. Ill. 2000); ProCD, Inc. v. Zeidenberg, 86 F.3d 1447 (7th Cir.

1996) (contract terms displayed on screen). Note, however, that the
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Kansas District Court opined in Klocek v. Gateway, Inc., 104 F.Supp.2d

1332 (D. Kan. 2000) that Missouri courts might not follow the reasoning

of the ProCD and similar cases.

11 See generally, Restatement of Contracts, 2nd.

12 See discussion non-traditional contracts and acceptance in ProCD,

Inc. v. Zeidenberg, 86 F.3d 1447, 1451 (7th Cir. 1996) (contract terms

displayed on screen) and in Section III of Specht v. Netscape

Communications Corporation, __ F.3d ____ (Oct. 2, 2002, 2d.Cir.)

(available online at http://laws.findlaw.com/2nd/017860v2.html).

13 See Section 432.010, R.S.Mo.

14 Section 400.2-201, R.S.Mo.; Section 400.2A-201, R.S.Mo. Note that

ALI has approved the increase of the amount in UCC Section 2-201

from $500 to $5,000 (see http://www.ali.org/forum4/StatuteFrauds2-

201.htm). Missouri has not made this amendment.

15 For example, a study by the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston found

more than 2,500 different state laws requiring that canceled checks be

physically stored in drawers. See Fry, Introduction to the Uniform

Electronic Transactions Act: Principles, Policies and Provisions, 37 Idaho

L. Rev. 237 (2001).

16 See, e.g., 17 USC §204.

17 15 USC §7006(4).

18 15 USC §7006(5).

19 15 USC §7006(13).

20 15 USC §7003(b).

21 15 USC §7003(b).

22 See generally 15 USC §7001(c).

23 See Official Comments to Section 7 of UETA.

24 UETA, §2(16).

25 There are a number of excellent articles comparing E-SIGN and

UETA. See, e.g., Fry, Why Enact UETA? The Role of UETA After E-SIGN,

http://www.nccusl.org/nccusl/whatsnew-article2.asp; Hillebrand and

Saunders, E-SIGN and UETA: What States Should Do Now,

http://www.consumersunion.org/finance/e_sign.htm; Fry, Introduction

to the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act: Principles, Policies and

Provisions, 37 Idaho L. Rev. 237 (2001); Boss, The Uniform Electronic

Transactions Act in a Global Environment, 37 Idaho L. Rev. 275 (2001);

Massachusetts Information Technology Division, General Counsel ESIGN

v UETA, http://state.ma.us/itd/legal/esignvueta.htm.

26 See discussion of E-SIGN consent requirements in text, supra, at

note 22.

27 See, e.g., Section 4(b) of the Official Comments to Section 5 of

UETA: "B. Joe gives out his business card with his business e-mail

address. It may be reasonable, under the circumstances, for a recipient

of the card to infer that Joe has agreed to communicate electronically

for business purposes. However, in the absence of additional facts, it

would not necessarily be reasonable to infer Joe's agreement to

communicate electronically for purposes outside the scope of the
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business indicated by use of the business card."

28 See Hillebrand and Saunders, E-SIGN and UETA: What States

Should Do Now, http://www.consumersunion.org/finance/e_sign.htm.

This article first appeared in

This article first appeared inThe Bar Association of Metropolitan St.

Louis (BAMSL)

copyright 2005



4/5/10 7:54 AMUniform Electronic Transactions Act in Missouri

Page 1 of 10http://www.mobar.org/b2041965-2d3c-41a9-ad55-bec6f6ab5d8d.aspx

            

Contact Us Staff Directory  

Members Public Educators Media

March - April 2004
Home  >  MoBar Publications  >  For MoBar Members  >  Journal of The Missouri Bar  > 
Archives  >  March - April  2004  >  Uniform Electronic Transactions Act in Missouri

Uniform Electronic Transactions Act in Missouri

 

by John A. Niemoeller1

In the 2003 legislative session, the Missouri legislature enacted and the governor

signed the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA), H.B. 254. UETA brings

Missouri's laws in line with federal law and most of the states, and allows state and

local governmental units in Missouri the opportunity to modernize how they do their

jobs and deliver their services to the public flexibly, as they see fit. The key provision

in UETA is that electronic records and signatures have the same legal status as paper

records and signatures, except in the case of wills and certain other limited special

circumstances. H.B. 254 also repealed Missouri's Digital Signatures Act.

In the 2003 legislative session last spring, the Missouri legislature enacted House Bill  254,

which created the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA) in Missouri2 and repealed

the old Missouri Digital Signatures Act.3 Governor Holden signed the bill on June 9, 2003,

and it became effective on August 28, 2003.4 UETA is a short piece of uniform legislation

that brings Missouri's laws in line with federal law and the laws of about 80% of the states.

Simply stated, UETA gives electronic records and signatures the same legal status as

paper records and signatures. In retail sales, UETA conforms Missouri intra-state InternetExhibit 3
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paper records and signatures. In retail sales, UETA conforms Missouri intra-state Internet

practice to what already is occurring on an interstate basis. Perhaps more importantly,

UETA could allow businesses in Missouri to make substantial cost-saving changes in record

retention policies. Moreover, UETA will allow state and local governmental units in Missouri

the opportunity to modernize how they do their jobs and deliver their services to the public.

The purpose of this article is to summarize the major provisions of UETA for the general

practitioner.

I. Historical Background5

In 1998 the Missouri legislature enacted the Missouri Digital Signatures Act (DSA). The DSA

was a "digital signature," "digital certificate" law. It granted legal validity to documents that

were digitally signed using "certificates." Certificates are encryption packets embedded in

the document being signed. The signer uses a "private key" to embed the certificate, and

then sends the document. The receiver of the signed document has a "public key" which

verifies that the document indeed was signed and was not altered. Certificates are issued

by certificate authorities - private companies that, in effect, guarantee the signature,

somewhat like a notary.

In July 1999, the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (NCCUSL)

approved UETA. The purpose of UETA was simple: to put electronic records and signatures

on exactly the same legal footing as paper documents and ink-and-paper signatures. UETA

leaves the reliability of electronic records and electronic signatures to the discretion of the

parties involved, just as the reliability of paper documents and ink-and-paper signatures is

left to their discretion under the common law. UETA thus was much broader and more

flexible than the DSA.

In June 2000, Congress embraced the principles of UETA by enacting the Electronic

Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act7 (E-Sign). E-Sign, like UETA, established

that signatures consensually given in electronic form had the same legal validity as ink-and-

paper signatures in interstate commerce. E-Sign preempted inconsistent state laws to the

extent they affected interstate commerce, and encouraged states to adopt UETA, which

generally is not subject to preemption.8 An immediate effect of E-Sign was to call into

question the viability of non-UETA state laws, such as Missouri's DSA.9

II. Basic Provisions of UETA

UETA provides that "[a] record or signature shall not be denied legal effect or enforceability

solely because it is in electronic form."10 This is the heart of the act. UETA contains several

important corollary provisions:

• "A contract shall not be denied legal effect or enforceability solely because it is in electronic

record was used in its formation."
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• "If a law requires a record to be in writing, an electronic record satisfies the law."

• "If a law requires a signature, an electronic signature satisfies the law."11

In short, UETA simply says that the legal status of a record (including signatures) is not

diminished if the record is created or retained in electronic form.

UETA provides that an "electronic signature" is any "electronic sound, symbol, or process

attached to or logically associated with a record and executed or adopted by a person with

the intent to sign the record."12 That same definition could be used for ink-and-paper

signatures, with only a few substitutions - an ink-and-paper signature is a mark or symbol

placed upon or attached to a paper document by a person with the intent to sign the

document. The UETA definition is intuitively obvious to ordinary people because it is directly

analogous to ink-and-paper signatures. There are differences, of course, but they are not

likely to confuse the average person. For example, under UETA, clicking the "I Agree"

button on a vendor's website is "signing" the "record" to which the button relates, and most

people understand that process in those terms.

III. Exceptions

UETA by its terms does not apply to any of the following:

• Any transaction to the extent it is governed by "[a] law governing the creation and

execution of wills, codicils, or testamentary trusts."13

• Any transaction to the extent it is governed by "[t]he uniform commercial code other than

sections 400.1-107, 400.1-206, 400.2-101 to 400.2-725, and 400.2A-101 to 400.2A-532,

RSMo."14

IV. Consumer Protection And Similar Laws

UETA does not preempt or supercede any law which "requires a record to be posted or

displayed in a [particular] manner, to be sent, communicated, or transmitted [in] a specified"

manner, or which requires the record "to contain information that is formatted in a [specific]

manner."15 This exception was added to address consumer protection concerns.

Consequently, care must be taken if, for example, a business client wants to deal with a

retail customer electronically and any consumer protection law (such as a truth-in-lending

law) applies to the transaction.

V. No Electronic Mandate

UETA does not require anyone to sign documents electronically or to make, use, or store

records in electronic form.16 In a contractual setting, all parties must agree that an

electronic format is acceptable; otherwise, there is no agreement and no contract.17

Further, UETA provides that the signed record must be capable of being retained by the

parties, and renders a record unenforceable by any party who inhibits the other party's
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parties, and renders a record unenforceable by any party who inhibits the other party's

ability to store or print the record.18

VI. Forgery Risks

UETA does not override any laws or principles regarding forgery. A forged electronic

signature is no more valid than a forged ink-and-paper one. An altered electronic contract is

no more enforceable than an altered paper one. The legal system (especially the courts) will

need to develop practices for establishing and accepting the reliability of electronic records

and signatures submitted as evidence, just as it did for hard copies, carbon copies,

photocopies, and faxes in years past. UETA does not solve those problems.

As a result of UETA's breadth and minimal restrictions, contractual parties have

extraordinary freedom to conduct electronic business in whatever fashion they wish. If they

do not believe that forgery is a substantial threat, they can take minimal or even no security

measures (and run the risk of non-enforceability if forgery in fact occurs). If they agree that

forgery is a substantial concern, they can use passwords, encryption protocols (such as

digital certificates), or other means to reduce their risk as they see fit. They have similar

flexibility in deciding how to store electronic records and protect them from unauthorized

alterations.

VII. Record Retention

UETA provides that "if [another] law requires that a record be retained, the requirement is

satisfied by retaining an electronic record of the information contained in the record" if the

electronic record (a) "[a]ccurately reflects the information set forth in the record" to be

retained, and (b) "[r]emains accessible for later reference."19 UETA contains several

corollaries and limitations to that general rule, the most notable of which are:

• "If a law requires a record to be presented or retained in its original form, . . . that law is

satisfied by an electronic record retained in accordance with" the general rule.20

• "If a law requires retention of a check, that requirement is satisfied by retention of an

electronic record of the information on the front and back of the check in accordance with"

the general rule.21

• An electronic record complying with the general rule "satisfies a law requiring a person to

retain a record for evidentiary, audit or like purposes, unless the law [is] enacted after

August 28, 2003, and specifically prohibits the use of an electronic record for such . . .

purpose.22

• UETA does not prevent "a governmental agency of [Missouri] from specifying additional

requirements for the retention of records subject to the agency's jurisdiction."23

VIII. Automated Transactions



4/5/10 7:54 AMUniform Electronic Transactions Act in Missouri

Page 5 of 10http://www.mobar.org/b2041965-2d3c-41a9-ad55-bec6f6ab5d8d.aspx

In the modern age contracts can be made and fulfilled without human beings. A computer at

a retail store can order more widgets from the warehouse. The warehouse computer can

accept the retailer's order, and can in turn order more widgets from the manufacturer.

Robots remove boxes of widgets from huge shelves, label them for shipment, and place

them on loading docks for pick up by courier service, all controlled by computers without

human oversight. It is possible to question whether a meeting of any minds occurs when

computer programs or other electronic agents of parties initiate, accept, and control the

entire transaction, from inception to delivery, without any involvement by living, breathing

people. However, modern commerce depends increasingly on complex just-in-time

inventory systems and other highly or entirely automated processes; doubts about

enforceability simply are not acceptable.

UETA contains special rules for automated transactions and other situations where

electronic agents interact with people or each other:

• "A contract may be formed by the interaction of electronic agents of the parties, even if no

individual was aware of or reviewed the electronic agents' actions or the resulting terms and

agreements."24

• "A contract may be formed by the interaction of an electronic agent and an individual . . .

including by an interaction in which the individual performs actions that the individual is free

to refuse to perform and which the individual knows or has reason to know will cause the

electronic agent to complete the transaction or performance."25

"[T]he terms of a contract" created by electronic agents, or by electronic agents and

individuals, pursuant to UETA "are determined by the substantive law applicable" to such

contract.26

IX. Mistakes & Errors

UETA has a few special provisions to deal with transmission errors, unauthorized changes,

and other similar situations:

• "If the parties have agreed to use a security procedure to detect changes or errors and

one party has conformed to that procedure, but the other party has not, and the

nonconforming party would have detected the error" using the procedure, then "the

conforming party may avoid the effect of the changed or erroneous record."27

• "In an automated transaction"28 between an individual and the electronic agent of another

party, "the individual may avoid the effect of an electronic record that resulted from an error

made by the individual . . . if the electronic agent did not provide an opportunity for the

prevention or correction of the error and, at the time the individual learns of the error, the

individual" does three things: (1) "[p]romptly notifies the other party of the error;" (2) "[t]akes

reasonable steps . . . to return" or "destroy the consideration received," according to the
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reasonable steps . . . to return" or "destroy the consideration received," according to the

other party's instructions; and (3) "[h]as not used or received any benefit or value from the

consideration received from the other [party]."29

• If neither of the foregoing two rules applies, a "change or error has the effect provided in

other law" (i.e., whatever non-UETA law governs in the situation).30

The last two of the foregoing special rules may not be varied by agreement of the parties.

X. Notarization, Oaths, Etc.

Not surprisingly, UETA provides that "[i]f a law requires a signature or record to be

notarized, acknowledged, verified, or made under oath, the requirement is satisfied if the

electronic signature of the person authorized to perform those acts, together with all other

information required [by applicable law,] . . . is attached to or logically associated with the

signature or record."31

XI. UCC Notes & Documents

UETA creates a new concept of "transferable record," which is defined to mean an

electronic record that would be a note32 or a document33 if it were in writing, and the

"issuer of the electronic record expressly has agreed it is a transferable record."34 Under

UETA, any person having "control of a transferable record" is the holder of the record under

the UCC35 and has the same rights and defenses as a holder of an equivalent record under

the UCC, including (if applicable) the rights and defenses of a holder in due course, a holder

to which a negotiable document has been negotiated, or a purchaser. Delivery, possession,

and endorsement are not required to obtain or exercise any of the rights afforded by

UETA.36

Under UETA, "[a] person has control of a transferable record if a system employed for

evidencing the transfer of interests in the transferable record reliably establishes that person

as the person to which the transferable record was issued or transferred."37 That general

rule is deemed satisfied as to a transferable record if the record is created, stored, and

assigned in such a manner that all of the following are true:

(1) A single authoritative copy of the transferable record exists which is

unique, identifiable, and [unalterable] except as provided in subdivisions (4),

(5), and (6)" . . .

(2) The authoritative copy identifies the person asserting control as . . . [t]he

person to which the record was issued . . . or the person to which the . . .

record was most recently transferred.

(3) The authoritative copy is communicated to and maintained by the person

asserting control or its designated custodian;
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asserting control or its designated custodian;

(4) Copies or revisions that add or change an identified assignee of the

authoritative copy can be made only with the consent of the person asserting

control;

(5) Each copy of the authoritative copy . . . is readily identifiable as a copy

that is not the authoritative copy; and

(6) Any revision of the authoritative copy is readily identifiable as authorized

or unauthorized.38

XII. State Agencies

UETA's flexibility applies to Missouri state agencies and local governmental units. For

example, if the Missouri Department of Revenue wants to develop a process for the

electronic filing of corporate tax returns using the Internet or telephone system, UETA will

not impede that effort. Similarly, the Missouri Secretary of State could permit the electronic

filing of corporate charters (for example) using procedures very different from the

Department of Revenue's procedures for corporate tax returns. Other agencies may choose

to retain paper-based record systems. As with the private sector, no state agency is

compelled by UETA to adopt electronic systems or procedures.

XIII. Practical Impact

UETA is not likely to have a substantial impact on ordinary electronic commerce in Missouri

for the simple reason that vendors already are conducting business without it. In the

commercial arena, UETA is an example of the law catching up to what everyone already is

doing. What UETA will do is provide a simple legal framework to support high-cost, high-risk

transactions that could be conducted electronically in the future but are not commonly done

that way now. For example, local banks may be more comfortable allowing take-downs

under commercial credit arrangements to be triggered solely by e-mail and documented

entirely on a CD-ROM now that Missouri has adopted UETA. Small banks, in particular, may

be more able to conduct commercial business electronically because their small size and

small geographic market often allows them to adjust their systems more rapidly than large

nationwide institutions.

Another positive effect in Missouri is likely to be how UETA allows state and local

governmental agencies to do their jobs more efficiently and with a minimum of extra

oversight. As was mentioned above, disparate things like tax returns, hunting licenses, and

corporate charters may not benefit equally from being recorded, signed, or delivered in

electronic form, and the risks of using electronic formats may be quite different in each

case. UETA allows those functions to be addressed independently, without adding a new

layer of red tape to the process.
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XIV. Conclusion

UETA is not a panacea, but it does solve several problems. It is consistent with what most

people actually are doing and expect. It is consistent with the federal E-Sign law and the

law in most of the states. It will allow businesses and state agencies to modernize without

fear that electronic efficiency might result in legal invalidity.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 

       ) 

    Plaintiff,  ) 

       ) 

v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-KHV-GLR 

       ) 

NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 

       ) 

    Defendants.  ) 

 

 

NOVATION, LLC, VHA INC., 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 

ROBERT BAKER AND CURT NONOMAQUE’S  

MOTION TO SET ORAL HEARING ON MOTION TO DISMISS  

 

 

Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) 

respectfully request that the Court set an oral hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for 

Failure to State a Claim. 

1. Prior to the transfer of this case to this Court, this case was pending in the United 

States District Court for the Western District of Missouri.  On April 4, 2005, while the case was 

in the prior court, Defendants sought dismissal of the lawsuit under Rule 12(b)(6) because 

Plaintiff  failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  See Novation, LLC, VHA, 

Inc., and University Healthsystem Consortium’s Motion To Transfer Venue or, Alternatively, 

Motion to Dismiss Complaint For Failure To State A Claim (Exhibit A) and the Suggestions in 

Support of that Motion (Exhibit B).  (Defendants also requested oral argument on their Motion to 

Dismiss.)  The Missouri court transferred the lawsuit to this Court without reaching the merits of 

the Motion to Dismiss.  Accordingly, Defendants renewed their Motion to Dismiss after the case 

Case 2:05-cv-02299-CM-GLR     Document 76-1     Filed 02/21/2006     Page 1 of 4 

Exhibit 4



 0887320.01 

 

was venued in this Court.  See Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, 

Robert Baker And Curt Nonomaque’s Renewed Motion To Dismiss Complaint For Failure To 

State a Claim (Exhibit C).  Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss has been fully briefed and is ripe for 

decision. 

2. As set forth more fully in Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and supporting brief, 

Plaintiff’s Complaint should be dismissed because, inter alia, (1) Plaintiff’s claims are barred by 

collateral estoppel;  (2) Plaintiff  fails to allege concerted action in support of its conspiracy 

claims; (3) Plaintiff fails to sufficiently allege monopoly power or the elements of attempt to 

monopolize; (4) Plaintiff fails to adequately allege harm to competition; (5) Plaintiff lacks 

standing; (6) Plaintiff fails to plead any of the required elements for an antitrust claim based on  

interlocking directors; (7) Plaintiff attempts to plead fraud without identifying a single 

misleading statement or omission; (8) Plaintiff pleads tortious interference without pleading that 

Defendants knew about or intentionally interfered with any contract; (9) Plaintiff attempts to 

plead a claim for prima facie tort, but fails to plead the requisite intentional lawful act that 

injured plaintiff (indeed, Plaintiff specifically pleads that Defendants’ conduct was unlawful); 

(10) Plaintiff attempts to assert a  RICO claim, but fails to allege a racketeering act, a pattern of 

racketeering, or a RICO injury; and, (11) Plaintiff’s USA Patriot Act claim is legally defective 

because there is no private cause of action under that Act as a matter of law.  These multiple, 

independent, fundamental legal defects compel dismissal of this lawsuit.   Defendants 

respectfully request that the Court set an oral hearing on Defendants’ motion to dismiss. 

3. Moreover, Plaintiff’s recent procedural machinations have further demonstrated 

that this case has been brought in bad faith.  As set forth in a pleading styled Ordered 

Withdrawal of Plaintiff’s Counsel, Medical Supply Chain was dissolved on January 17, 2006. 
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(Exhibit D).  Samuel K. Lipari, CEO of the former corporate entity, asked that Medical Supply 

Chain be dropped from the lawsuit and that Mr. Lipari, individually, be substituted in as party 

plaintiff.  See February 2, 2006 Order. (Exhibit E) (noting that “Lipari wishes to proceed pro se 

as the substituted plaintiff.”).  However, the Court ruled that Mr. Lipari’s attempt to substitute in 

as party plaintiff was defective and that a formal motion to substitute party would need to be 

filed.  Id.  However, Plaintiff has yet to file a motion to substitute a party.  Thus, this frivolous 

lawsuit is currently brought by a plaintiff that has filed pleadings indicating that it no longer 

wishes to proceed as plaintiff, and no adequate motion to substitute has been filed.    It is time to 

dismiss this case.  Furthermore,  even if Mr. Lipari does eventually move to be substituted in as 

party plaintiff, that procedural gambit will not salvage this lawsuit.  As Defendants demonstrated 

in their Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute Plaintiff (Exhibit F), Mr. 

Lipari lacks standing to assert any of the claims asserted in this lawsuit (even if the claims were 

otherwise legally viable—which they are not).  Plaintiff’s last-ditch attempt to prolong this 

fundamentally defective lawsuit should be rejected.  Defendants respectfully request that the 

Court set Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for hearing and dismiss this case. 

 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, for all of these reasons, Defendants request that the Court set an oral 

hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and, after such hearing, dismiss Plaintiff’s case with 

prejudice and  grant Defendants all other relief to which they are entitled. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 

 

 

 

 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 

1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 

 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 

 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 

LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 

CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 

HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 

BAKER 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that on February 21, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 

clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 

the following:: 

 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 

Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 

Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 

Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 

Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 

 

        /s/ John K. Power    

        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,    )   

Plaintiff,     ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-2299 

NOVATION, LLC      )  
NEOFORMA, INC.      )  
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 
CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM  ) 
ROBERT J. BAKER      ) 
US BANCORP, NA      ) 
US BANK        ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE      ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF      ) 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY       ) 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.        ) 

Defendants.     ) 
 

RESPONSE TO NOVATION DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR ORAL HEARING 
 

Comes now, the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain and Samuel K. Lipari 

through their counsel, Dennis Hawver, Esq. Response to the Novation 

defendants motion for oral hearing, (Doc. 76 ). The plaintiff believes oral 

argument over the dismissal motions is unnecessary and based on the 

defendant’s motion it is unlikely to further the interests of justice. The plaintiff 

therefore respectfully requests the court deny the Novation defendants’ motion 

for an oral hearing. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. The Novation defendants ( herein Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. 

(“VHA”), University Healthsystem Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt 

Nonomaque ) seek an oral hearing on their motion to dismiss.  
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2. The Novation defendants are currently facing prospects that their 

attempt to merge the remaining two electronic marketplaces for hospital supplies, 

the defendant Neoforma and the unnamed coconspirator GHX, LLC will be 

stopped by a Delaware Court (Exb. 1) or the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (Exb. 2) on the eve of the next US Senate Judiciary Antitrust Sub-

comittee hearings on monopolization of hospital supplies. 

3. The Novation defendants in understandable urgency reiterate that the 

plaintiff’s complaint should be dismissed for reasons contrary to controlling law.  

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

The plaintiff has previously and completely refuted these assorted 

representations in its memorandums opposing the defendants’ motions to 

dismiss and motions to sanction. The plaintiff now again addresses the issues 

raised by the Novation defendants:   

“(1) Plaintiff’s claims are barred by collateral estoppel;” 

Claim preclusion clearly does not apply to the Novation defendants who 

were not parties to the previous action. The Novation defendants were not in 

privity or controlling the previous actions. The US Supreme Court in Lawlor v. 

National Screen Service Corporation resolved these issues: 

a. Privity 

The Novation defendants are not parties in privity for the purposes of 

collateral estoppel. “Restatement, Judgments, § 83, Comment a: 'those who 

control an action although not parties to it * * *; those whose interests are 

represented by a party to the action * * *; successors in interest. * * *' “Id ar fn 19 
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“It is sufficient here to point out that the five defendants do not fall within the 

orthodox categories of privies;” Id. at pg. 329 

b. prior outcome of injunction no bar 

Nor does the plaintiff’s failure to prevail against the previous defendants 

estop the present action: 

“There is no merit, therefore, in the respondents' contention that petitioners 
are precluded by their failure in the 1942 suit to press their demand for 
injunctive relief. Particularly is this so in view of the public interest in vigilant 
enforcement of the antitrust laws through the instrumentality of the private 
treble-damage action. Acceptance of the respondents' novel contention 
would in effect confer on them a partial immunity from civil liability for future 
violations. Such a result is consistent with neither the antitrust laws nor the 
doctrine of res judicata.”  

 
Id. at pg. 329. 

 
c. Necessary Parties 

Nor does the plaintiff’s failure to prevail against the previous defendants 

estop the present action: 

“in any event there was no obligation to join them in the 1942 case 
since as joint tort-feasors they were not indispensable parties; and that their 
liability was not 'altogether dependent upon the culpability' of the 
defendants in the 1942 suit.”  

 
Id pg. 328. 

d. Identity of claims 

Under federal law, collateral estoppel may be invoked only if "the issue 

previously decided is identical with the one presented in the action in question." 

Frandsen v. Westinghouse Corp., 46 F.3d 975, 978 (10th Cir.1995). 

The current complaint states claims for subsequent conduct and conduct 

not yet ripe in the earlier litigation. “...if future damages are unascertainable, a 
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cause of action for such damages does not accrue until they occur. Zenith, 401 

U.S. at 339, 91 S.Ct. at 806.” Kaw Valley Elec. Co-op. Co., Inc. v. Kansas Elec. 

Power Co-op., Inc., 872 F.2d 931 at FN4 (C.A.10 (Kan.), 1989). See also 

Barnosky Oils Inc., v. Union Oil Co., 665 F.2d 74, 82 (6th Cir. 1981). US Bank 

was still attempting to perform the financing part of the contract after Medical 

Supply filed its injunctive relief. If “the initial refusal is not final, each time the 

victim seeks to deal with the violator and is rejected, a new cause of action 

accrues. See Pace Indus., 813 F.2d at 237-39;  Midwestern Waffles, Inc. v. 

Waffle House, Inc., 734 F.2d 705, 714-15 (11th Cir.1984).”Kaw Valley Elec. Co-

op. Co., Inc. v. Kansas Elec. Power Co-op., Inc., 872 F.2d 931 at 933-4 (C.A.10 

(Kan.), 1989). 

Lawlor v. National Screen also clarifies this issue: 

“The conduct presently complained of was all subsequent to the 
1943 judgment. In addition, there are new antitrust violations alleged 
here—deliberately slow deliveries and tie-in sales, among others—not 
present in the former action. While the 1943 judgment precludes recovery 
on claims arising prior to its entry, it cannot be given the effect of 
extinguishing claims which did not even then exist and which could 
not possibly have been sued upon in the previous case. In the interim, 
moreover, there was a substantial change in the scope of the defendants' 
alleged monopoly; five other producers had granted exclusive licenses 
to National Screen, with the result that the defendants' control over 
the market for standard accessories had increased to nearly 100%. 
Under these circumstances, whether the defendants' conduct be regarded 
as a series of individual torts or as one continuing tort, the 1943 judgment 
does not constitute a bar to the instant suit.” [ emphasis added] 

 
Lawlor v. National Screen Service Corporation, 349 U.S. 322 at 328, 75 

S.Ct. 865, 99 L.Ed. 1122 (1955) 
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Collateral Estoppel Is Inapplicable To The Novation Defendants 
 

The defense has no clothes. Clearly the three required elements for claim 

preclusion or collateral estoppel do not exist: 

“The three requirements for application of claim preclusion are: (1) 
identity or privity of the parties; (2) identity of the cause of action; and (3) a 
final judgment on the merits. Id. Where these three requirements are met, 
claim preclusion applies to bar the maintenance of a subsequent suit.” 

 
Heard v. Board of Pub. Util. of Kansas City, Ks, 316 F.Supp.2d 980 at 982 

(D. Kan., 2004) 

“(2) Plaintiff fails to allege concerted action in support of its conspiracy 
claims;” 
 
 There is no heightened pleading standard for conspiracy or antitrust 

conspiracy. The claims adequately apprise the defendants of the gravamen of 

their conduct: Under the law, a conspiracy may consist of any mutual agreement 

or arrangement, knowingly made, between two or more competitors. Law v. Nat'l 

Collegiate Athletic Ass'n 185 F.R.D. 324, 336, n.19 (D. Kan. 1999). The plaintiff 

has met the burden of pleading a conspiracy by "identif[ying] the co-conspirators 

and describ[ing] the nature and effect of the alleged conspiracy." Alco Standard 

Corp. v. Schmid Bros., 647 F.Supp. 4, 6 (S.D.N.Y.1986). 

The hospital supply competitors VHA and UHC’s joint ownership and 

agreement to exclusively use the electronic marketplace Neoforma is such a 

prohibited combination and conspiracy.  

The hospital supply competitors VHA and UHC’s formation of the 

defendant limited liability company Novation is identified in the complaint as a 
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conspiracy to restrain trade specifically prohibited under Dagher v. Saudi 

Refining Inc., No. 02-56509 (Fed. 9th Cir. 6/1/2004) (Fed. 9th Cir., 2004).  

The plaintiffs other Sherman 1 claims are equally undismissable. See 

Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Servs. Inc., 504 U.S. 451, 478, 112 S.Ct. 

2072, 119 L.Ed.2d 265 (1992) ("The alleged conduct — higher service prices and 

market foreclosure — is facially anticompetitive and exactly the harm that 

antitrust laws aim to prevent."); United States v. VISA U.S.A., Inc., 344 F.3d 229, 

at 241-43 (2d Cir.2003) (rules for vendor participation causing reduction in output 

and consumer choice had anticompetitive effect); Primetime 24 Joint Venture v. 

National Broadcasting Co., 219 F.3d 92, 103-04 (2d Cir.2000) (refusing to 

dismiss where complaint alleged agreement resulting in denial of a necessary 

input to a competitor). 

“(3) Plaintiff fails to sufficiently allege monopoly power or the elements of 
attempt to monopolize;” 
 
 The complaint alleges and Neoforma and the Novation defendant parties 

surprisingly subsequently proved the plaintiff’s claims for Sherman 1 combination 

and conspiracy in restraint of trade antitrust violations through their conduct and 

official press releases. See Exbs. 3 and 4: 

“The current 10-year exclusive outsourcing agreement was originally 
entered into in March 2000 and was most recently amended in August 2003 
as a result of negotiations between the parties to the contract. Under the 
terms of that amendment, the quarterly maximum payment from Novation to 
Neoforma was established at $15.25 million, or $61.0 million per year, 
beginning in 2004.”  
 

Exb 3 Neoforma SEC disclosure press release pg. 1  
 

“In addition, at the effective time of the Merger, VHA and UHC, which 
respectively owned 8,611,217 and 2,130,302 shares of Neoforma common 
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stock prior to the Merger, representing approximately 41.5% and 10.3% of 
Neoforma outstanding common stock, respectively had 2,004,190 and 
495,810 of their shares of Neoforma common stock converted into the right 
to receive $10.00 per share in cash in the Merger. The remainder of the 
shares that they held were exchanged, immediately prior to the closing of 
the Merger, for membership interests in GHX representing approximately an 
11.6% ownership interest in GHX for VHA and a 2.9% ownership interest in 
GHX for UHC, pursuant to exchange agreements.” 

 
Exb 4 Neoforma SEC disclosure press release pg. 1  
 

The complaint does describe the Novation defendant’s market power in 

many places. The following three paragraphs from the complaint are an example: 

¶56 states: “By 8/21/04 The NY Times reported that the Justice 

Department had opened a broad criminal investigation of the medical-supply 

industry revealing that Novation is being subjected to a criminal inquiry: 

“Novation's primary business is to pool the purchasing volume of 
about 2,200 hospitals, as well as thousands of nursing homes, clinics and 
physicians' practices, and to use their collective power to negotiate 
contracts with suppliers at a discount. In many cases, the contracts offer 
special rebates to hospitals that meet certain purchasing targets. Although 
Novation is not well known outside the industry, it wields formidable 
power because it can open, or impede, access to a vast institutional 
market for health products.” [emphasis added] 

 

¶433 states:  

“The defendant Novation LLC is the largest Hospital Group 
Purchasing Organization selling over 30 billion dollars in hospital supplies a 
year and controlling the purchasing in 2000 hospitals nationwide.” 

 
¶434 states:  

“The defendants possess market power having the power to exclude 
competitors from 2000 of the nation’s hospitals, which Novation controls 
under long term purchasing contracts. The defendants possess market 
power in the ability to charge manufacturers and suppliers fees to have their 
products sold to Novation’s members and additional fees to manufacturers 
and suppliers for allowing their products to be sold though the web where 
member hospitals are required to purchase products through Neoforma, 
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Inc. The defendants possess market power in having exclusive access to 
Piper Jaffray’s investor research coverage and annual healthcare 
conferences, elements essential to effectively obtain capitalization through 
an initial public offering. The defendants possess market power in having 
exclusive access to the commercial banking facilities of US Bancorp NA.” 

 
The complaint identifies the defendant Neoforma and the nondefendant 

coconspirator GHX, LLC as the only other electronic marketplaces for hospital 

supplies (¶40) besides Medical Supply Chain and that Neoforma will be merged 

with GHX, LLC  to monopolize the web based market for hospital supplies. 

The complaint adequately alleges a conspiracy to monopolize under 

Section 2. To establish such a claim, plaintiff must plead and prove (1) a 

combination or conspiracy to monopolize; (2) overt acts done in furtherance of 

the combination or conspiracy; (3) an effect upon an appreciable amount of 

interstate commerce; and (4) a specific intent to monopolize. Multistate Legal 

Studies. Inc. v. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Legal & Prof'l Publ'ns, Inc., 63 F.3d 

1540, 1556 (10th Cir. 1995). 

“(4) Plaintiff fails to adequately allege harm to competition;”  

 The plaintiff’s complaint documents harm to the market from the 

defendants’ artificial inflation of hospital supply prices. A trilogy of recent 

Supreme Court decisions reflect that it is unnecessary at the pleading stage to 

state every element of a claim, See Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S.  

506 (2002); Crawford-El v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574 (1998); Leatherman v. Tarrant 

County Narcotics Intelligence & Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163 (1993). 

“(5) Plaintiff lacks standing;” 
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 The plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc., like the sole proprietorship 

Medical Supply Chain and Sam Lipari the founder and CEO of Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. ( a statutory trustee of the corporation under Missouri § 351.525 

RSMo) and now the proprietor of Medical Supply Chain, a hospital supply 

business excluded from the market by the continuing acts of the defendants has 

standing. 

Missouri’s rule 52.13(e) states "When a corporation has been sued and 

served with a process or has appeared while in being, and is thereafter disolved 

or its charter forfeited, the action shall not be affected thereby ...." Accordingly, 

under § 351.525, "[t]he statutory trustees succeed to the interest of the 

corporation by operation of law ". Sab Harmon Indus. v. All State Bldg. Sys., 733 

S.W.2d 476, 483 (Mo.App.1987). 

 

 It has been asserted that like the trial court in case World of Sleep’s 

conclusion that World of Sleep's lost profits from potential sales to the licensee 

stores were too speculative because "there is no history at all of any profit or loss 

on these dealings during the years involved in this case World of Sleep, Inc. v. 

La-Z-Boy Chair Co., 756 F.2d 1467 at  1478 (C.A.10 (Colo.), 1985). This error 

contradicts established Tenth Circuit and US Supreme Court law:  

 “If proof of a profit and loss history were required, no plaintiff could ever  
recover for losses resulting from his inability to enter a market. However,  
such recoveries are clearly available under section 4 of the Clayton Act.  
See, e.g., Zenith, 395 U.S. at 129, 89 S.Ct. at 1579. ( Zenith Radio Corp. v.  
Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, 123-24, 89 S.Ct. 1562, 1576-77, 23  
L.Ed.2d 129 (1969) )”  

  
 World of Sleep, Inc. v. La-Z-Boy Chair Co., 756 F.2d 1467 at  1478 
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(C.A.10).  

“(6) Plaintiff fails to plead any of the required elements for an antitrust 
claim based on interlocking directors;”  
 
 The defendants omit that Rule 8 of the federal rules of civil procedure 

governs. No special pleading requirements attach in antitrust cases, beyond 

those specifically set out by Congress; antitrust plaintiffs thus enjoy the same 

general standard for stating a claim as other litigants. See Radovich v. National 

Football League, 352 U.S. 445, 453-54, 77 S.Ct. 390, 1 L.Ed.2d 456 (1957); 

Nagler v. Admiral Corporation, 248 F.2d 319, 323-24 (2d Cir.1957). 

 The burden to state a claim for interlocking directors is exceedingly low: 

“Defendant also maintains that plaintiff has failed to state a claim under § 8 
of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19. Section 8 prohibits interlocking 
directorates of competing corporations if elimination of competition between 
them by agreement would violate any of the antitrust laws. Defendant 
intends to seek majority representation on plaintiff's board of directors after 
the acquisition of seventy five percent of the plaintiff's stock (SEC FORM S-
7 at 16). United States v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 111 F.Supp. 614 
(S.D.N.Y.1953), the district court granted summary judgment against the 
defendant, ordering the resignation of a director from the board of one or 
both of two competitor corporations upon which he sat, because of a 
potential anticompetitive agreement.10 In light of Sears, we hold that 
plaintiff has adequately stated a claim under § 8 of the Clayton Act.” 
 

American Medicorp, Inc. v. Humana, Inc., 445 F.Supp. 573 at 587 (E.D. 

Pa., 1977). At footnote 10, the American Medicorp court goes on to explain the 

purpose for easily triggering interlocking directorate liability: 

“[w]hat Congress intended by § 8 was to nip in the bud incipient 
violations of the antitrust laws by removing the opportunity or temptation to 
such violations through interlocking directorates. The legislation was 
essentially preventative. 

 
* * * * * * 
        While it may be acknowledged that the clause is not crystal 

clear, to infuse it with the meaning contended for by the defendants would 
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defeat the Congressional purpose "to arrest the creation of trusts, 
conspiracies and monopolies in their incipiency and before consummation." 
This conclusion is compelled because of the futility of trying to decide 
whether a given hypothetical merger would violate the pertinent sections of 
the antitrust laws. Sears, supra, at 616-617. (Footnotes omitted).” 

 
The complaint states the defendants had interlocking directors to facilitate 

their monopoly and that antitrust law violations occurred: 

¶235 states:  

“The May 25, 2000 announcement also revealed the interlocking 
directors used by the Defendants to restrain trade in hospital supplies. In 
connection with the new agreements, two of the seven seats on the 
Neoforma.com Board of Directors will be filled by VHA designees after 
closing of the transaction.” 

 
¶ 368 states: 

 “(US Bancorp has interlocking directorships and an exchange of directors 
with the two dominant GPO founders of GHX LLC.; the Defendant Novation and 
Premier. US Bancorp helped the Defendant Novation acquire control of the 
Defendant Neoforma and partner it with GHX LLC. creating a monopoly of over 
80% of healthcare e-commerce).” 

 
¶ 424 states:  

“Medical Supply Chain, Inc. has been excluded from the hospital supply 
market with agreements between UHA and VHA’s Novation in combination with 
their electronic marketplace Neoforma, Inc. US Bancorp NA, and The Piper 
Jaffray Companies exchanged directors with Novation and participated in 
exclusive agreements with Novation and Neoforma to keep hospitals using 
technology products from companies US Bancorp NA and Piper Jaffray had an 
interest in. The purpose of these agreements was to injure the hospital supply 
consumers with artificially inflated prices.” 

 
¶ 500 states:  

“The Defendants use of interlocking directors in joint ventures and 
LLC’s formed by competing suppliers, manufacturers and distributors and 
use of interlocking directors on the boards of healthcare technology and 
supply chain management companies violate Section 8 of the Clayton Act, 
15 U.S.C. § 19.” 

 
¶ 502 states:  
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“Defendants through the use of interlocking directors collectively 
have at all times material to this complaint maintained, attempted to achieve 
and maintain, or combined or conspired to achieve and maintain, a 
monopoly over the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in 
e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare technology 
companies and supply chain management companies in the several Stated 
of the United States; and have used, attempted to use, or combined and 
conspired to use, their monopoly power and interlocking directors to affect 
competition in the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in 
e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare technology 
companies and supply chain management companies sale of the same in 
the several States of the United States in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 19.” 

 
“(7) Plaintiff attempts to plead fraud without identifying a single misleading 
statement or omission;”  
 
 The plaintiff’s complaint identifies numerous misrepresentations. The 

following paragraphs from the complaint merely describes Novation’s fraudulent 

misrepresentation of 2005 costs in the 2004 annual inflation forecast:  

¶124 states:  

“The “inflation savings” scheme is perpetuated to this day by annual 
inflation forecasts created and distributed by Premier and Novation, LLC. 
The documents appear to be legitimate economic forecasts to aid hospital-
purchasing directors and include macroeconomic analysis of economic 
conditions that have the potential to effect product prices. For those 
uninitiated into the secrets of the fraud, the long-term contracts with the 
hospital’s GPO either Premier or Novation, LLC appear to have protected 
the hospital against the full effect of projected increases in the 
manufacturer’s list prices.” 

 
¶125 states:  

“The fraud however is easily verified. The economic forecasts of 
Novation LLC and Premier speak for themselves. The lists of products and 
services and the projected price changes invariably show price increases 
exceeding the annual inflation index rate for the contract protected hospital 
supply market leader manufacturers and below annual inflation index price 
changes for non-hospital supply specialty items, even declining prices in 
some markets with competition. To offset these glaringly obvious 
comparisons, Novation LLC and Premier make much use (misuse) of 
macro inflationary data to project increases in commodities they do not 
control. “ 
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¶126 states:  

“As an example, Novation LLC’s 2005 projections utilize temporary 
surges in products like farm produce from fuel cost increases in 2004 to 
creatively portray large increases in products not under contract providing 
cover for the fraudulently increased prices of the GPO’s participating 
suppliers.” 

 
The plaintiff’s complaint similarly described Novation’s specific fraudulent 

misrepresentations about the US Surgical price advantage: 

¶393 states:  

“On December 20, 2004, U.S. Surgical, a business unit of Tyco 
Healthcare, was awarded suture contracts by Novation. The long-term 
exclusive contracts run from April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2008. The 
contracts announcement stated VHA and UHC have the potential to 
purchase as much as $900 million in the eight product categories that make 
up Novation’s complete wound closure and endomechanical offering.” 

 
¶395 states:  

“Novation provided a suture conversion calculator to validate for its 
members that they would save 20 – 25% using the new US Surgical 
contract. A hospital member of Novation used the aforementioned suture 
conversion calculator and found that their actual prices for sutures on the 
new contract are going to be 36% higher the previous contract, yet the 
hospital was told by Novation that they will realize the above stated savings 
(20-25% savings). “ 

 
¶396 states:  

“Novation fraudulently deceived its member hospitals into believing 
the new US Surgical suture contract would save them 20-25 percent. 
Instead of delivering savings, Novation and Tyco increased the list or book 
price for the sutures. The hospitals were given a fraudulent means to 
calculate their “savings” the suture conversion calculator that showed 
savings in the range of 20-25%. However, when the prices for Ethicon 
products, the sutures that had been used by the hospital were run through 
the same calculator, the hospital realized the new US Surgical contract 
prices were actually 36% higher.” 
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Since it is clear the complaint identifies many fraudulent 

misrepresentations by the Novation defendants, it is unfathomable why the 

Novation defendants have made the representation to the court that the 

complaint identifies no fraudulent misrepresentations.  

“(8) Plaintiff pleads tortious interference without pleading that Defendants 
knew about or intentionally interfered with any contract;” 
 
¶406 states:  

”The coconspirators UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque, 
Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars did however renew 
their conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an 
unlawful objective of keeping Medical Supply out of the market for hospital 
supplies by reviewing the case against US Bancorp and consulting with 
representatives for US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew 
Cesere, Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. The cartel decided to 
rely on the continuing efforts to illegally influence the Kansas District Court 
and Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals to uphold the trial court’s erroneous 
ruling. The cartel also renewed their efforts to have Medical Supply’s sole 
counsel disbarred, knowing that an extensive search for counsel by Medical 
Supply had resulted in 100% of the contacted firms being conflicted out of 
opposing US Bancorp and actually effected a frenzy of disbarment attempts 
against Medical Supply’s counsel in the period from December 14, 2004 to 
February 3rd, 2005, all originating from the cartel’s agents Shughart 
Thomson and Kilroy’s past and current share holders.” 
 

¶425 states:  

“Because of these illegal anticompetitive agreements with Novation and 
Neoforma, Inc., Piper Jaffray and then US Bancorp refused to deal with 
Medical Supply Chain, Inc. US Bancorp broke a contract with Medical 
Supply Chain, Inc. to provide escrow accounts needed to capitalize Medical 
Supply’s entry into the hospital supply marketplace, using the pretext of the 
USA PATRIOT Act. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray simultaneously stole 
Medical Supply’s intellectual property, which has since been openly used by 
Novation and Neoforma. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray have continued to 
extort property from Medical Supply Chain on behalf of the hospital supply 
cartel by obstructing entry to the market for hospital supplies through the 
threat of malicious USA PATRIOT Act reports.” 
 

 ¶427 states:  
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“In June of 2004, Novation/ Neoforma, Inc. again stopped Medical Supply 
from entering the market for hospital supplies using exclusive dealing 
agreements with General Electric and GE’s electronic marketplace cartel 
GHX, LLC. These agreements caused GE to break a written contract to 
purchase a commercial real estate lease from Medical Supply. The contract 
included Medical Supply’s requirement to use the proceeds to capitalize 
Medical Supply’s entry to market since it was under the extortion of US 
Bancorp threatened and malicious USA PATRIOT Act reporting. Medical 
Supply is currently attempting to resolve its contract with GE and obtain 
injunctive relief and treble damages under Sherman I and II.” 
 

“(9) Plaintiff attempts to plead a claim for prima facie tort, but fails to plead 
the requisite intentional lawful act that injured plaintiff (indeed, Plaintiff 
specifically pleads that Defendants’ conduct was unlawful);”  
 
 The complaint identifies many lawful acts which the Novation defendants’ 

direct conduct and participative conduct becomes actionable as prima facie torts.  

For instance, identifies Andrew DeMarea’s filing of a lawful ethics complaint to 

unlawfully deprive Medical Supply of counsel. The complaint also describes the 

use of the USA PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report to prevent the plaintiff 

from entering the market for hospital supplies. 

“(10) Plaintiff attempts to assert a RICO claim, but fails to allege a 
racketeering act, a pattern of racketeering, or a RICO injury;  
 
 The plaintiff has adequately alleged the existence of a RICO enterprise 

and that the Novation defendants is part of the association in fact that comprises 

the enterprise.  

Enterprise 

Allegations of the existence of a RICO enterprise must meet only the 

"notice pleading" requirements of Fed.R.Civ. Pro. 8. Trustees of Plumbers and 

Pipefitters 886 F.Supp. 1134, 1144-45 (S.D.N.Y.1995)' Nat'l Pension Fund v. 
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Transworld Mech., Inc., 886 F.Supp. 1134, 1144-45 (S.D.N.Y.1995); Azurite 

Corp. v. Amster & Co., 730 F.Supp. 571 (S.D.N.Y.1990). 

The enterprise was alleged to have committed predicate acts in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and they were alleged with the required specificity and 

identified which defendants committed which acts.  

"To sufficiently state a RICO claim, [p]laintiffs must plead `(1) conduct, (2) 
of an enterprise, (3) through a pattern, (4) of racketeering activity.'" Cyber Media 
Group, Inc. v. Island Mortgage Network, Inc., 183 F.Supp.2d 559, 578 (E.D.N.Y. 
2002) (quoting Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 496, 105 S.Ct. 
3275, 87 L.Ed.2d 346 (1985)).” 

 
Calabrese v. Csc Holdings, Inc., 283 F.Supp.2d 797 at 807 (E.D.N.Y., 

2003). See also Krear v. Malek, 961 F.Supp. 1065 (E.D. Mich., 1997): 

“Regardless, plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged an "enterprise" in that they 
have alleged an association-in-fact between Lease Equities, NBF, NBF 
Cable, Turner and Malek. See Frank v. D'Ambrosi, 4 F.3d 1378, 1386 (6th 
Cir.1993). In Frank, the Sixth Circuit stated that: "To satisfy the enterprise 
requirement, an association-in-fact must be an ongoing organization, its 
members must function as a continuing unit, and it must be separate from 
the pattern of racketeering activity in which it engages." Id. (citing United 
States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583, 101 S.Ct. 2524, 2528-29, 69 L.Ed.2d 
246 (1981)). 
        Plaintiffs have properly alleged that the racketeering activity, i.e., the 
sale of notes through Lease Equities to perpetuate the alleged Ponzi 
scheme, is distinct from the association-in-fact which associated for 
legitimate business purposes, to wit: Lease Equities entered into legitimate 
leases with third parties; NBF Cable entered into legitimate cable television 
contracts; and Lease Equities was a secured creditor of NBF Cable. 
        Third, plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged, under § 1962(d), that 
defendants conspired to violate §§ 1962(b) and (c). To state a claim under 
§ 1962(d), a plaintiff must plead that the defendant agreed to join the 
conspiracy, agreed to commit predicate acts, and knew that those acts 
were part of a pattern of racketeering activity. See Glessner v. Kenny, 952 
F.2d 702, 714 (3rd Cir. 1991). While plaintiffs have not used the word 
"agreement" per se, they have stated that defendants Malek, Turner and 
Lease Equities "have conspired to violate RICO," and have well-pleaded a 
set of facts from which a conspiracy can be inferred in the FARCS. See 
Baumer v. Pachl, 8 F.3d 1341, 1346 (9th Cir.1993); Manning v. Stigger, 919 
F.Supp. 249, 254 (E.D.Ky.1996).” 
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Krear v. Malek, 961 F.Supp. 1065 at 1070-1071 (E.D. Mich., 1997).  

Conspiracy 

The complaint alleges the Novation defendants are part of a RICO 

conspiracy. Plaintiffs have alleged that the defendant First Franklin engaged in a 

conspiracy to commit the acts mentioned above in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

1962(d). 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) states: "It shall be unlawful for any person to 

conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (c) of this 

section." 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

No Overt Act Required 

The Supreme Court's 1997 decision Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 

118 S.Ct. 469, 139 L.Ed.2d 352, is controlling. The Supreme Court held that 

plaintiffs need only allege that defendants "knew of and agreed to facilitate the 

scheme." Id. at 478. 

        There is no requirement of some overt act or specific act in the [RICO] 

statute before us, unlike the general conspiracy provision applicable to federal 

crimes, which requires that at least one of the conspirators have committed an 

`act to effect the object of the conspiracy.' § 371: 

“A [RICO] conspirator must intend to further an endeavor which, if 
completed, would satisfy all of the elements of a substantive criminal 
offense, but it suffices that he adopt the goal of furthering or facilitating the 
criminal endeavor ... One can be a conspirator by agreeing to facilitate only 
some of the acts leading to the substantive offense. It is elementary that a 
[RICO] conspiracy may exist and be punished whether or not the 
substantive crime ensues, for the conspiracy is a distinct evil, and so 
punishable in itself.” 

 
        Salinas, 118 S.Ct. at 476-77. 
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 The Novation defendants do not refute the conduct of the other 

defendants. Having established a RICO conspiracy, the Novation defendants 

must make a factual showing to escape. "Once a conspiracy is shown to exist, 

the evidence sufficient to link another defendant to it need not be overwhelming." 

United States v. Diaz, 176 F.3d 52, 97 (2d Cir.1999) (quoting United States v. 

Amato, 15 F.3d 230, 235 (2d Cir.1994)). Plaintiff’s § 1962(d) allegations suffice to 

satisfy Salinas. 

"[o]nce a RICO enterprise is established, a defendant may be found 
liable even if he does not have specific knowledge of every member 
and component of the enterprise." Mason Tenders District Council 
Pension Fund v. Messera, 1996 WL 351250 at *6 (S.D.N.Y.1996) 
("Whether or not this conduct is viewed as being at the core of the 
enterprise ..."). Furthermore, "[t]he RICO statute has been repeatedly 
construed to cover both insiders as well as those peripherally connected to 
a RICO enterprise, particularly where the "outsiders" are alleged to have 
engaged in kick-backs in order to influence the enterprise's decision." Id. 
Azrielli v. Cohen Law Offices, 21 F.3d 512, 514-15, 521 (2d Cir.1994) 
(Judge Kearse held that the district court should not have dismissed 
the § 1962(c) claim against defendant who served as "the middle 
person in [a] flip sale" of a building "`by allowing his name to be used 
on the bogus contract and showing up at the closing.'").” 

 
In re Sumitomo Copper Litigation, 104 F.Supp.2d 314 (S.D.N.Y., 2000).        

To be convicted of conspiracy to violate RICO under § 1962(d), the conspirator 

need not himself have committed or agreed to commit the two or more predicate 

acts, as long as each agreed to act in furtherance of the scheme. Salinas v. 

United States, 522 U.S. 52, 63, 118 S.Ct. 469, 139 L.Ed.2d 352 (1997). Under 

this statute, there is no requirement of some overt act in furtherance of the 

conspiracy. Id. 

(11) Plaintiff’s USA Patriot Act claim is legally defective because there is no 
private cause of action under that Act as a matter of law.” 
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 There are numerous expressly stated private causes of action under USA 

PATRIOT Act Public Law 107–56 ‘‘Uniting and Strengthening America by 

Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism (USA 

PATRIOT ACT) Act of 2001’’ contains private rights of action even expressly 

stated in the acts subheadings; SEC. 223. CIVIL LIABILITY FOR CERTAIN 

UNAUTHORIZED DISCLOSURES and the plaintiff’s averred malicious reporting 

to which there is a private right in SEC. 355 which states: 

‘‘(3) MALICIOUS INTENT.—Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
subsection, voluntary disclosure made by an insured depository institution, 
and any director, officer, employee, or agent of such institution under this 
subsection concerning potentially unlawful activity that is made with 
malicious intent, shall not be shielded from liability from the person 
identified in the disclosure.” [ emphasis added ].  
 

 Additional private rights of action are communicated in sections that  

immunize “good faith” disclosure of information from third parties. The  

qualifying of immunity to third parties’ causes of action for civil liability are  

expressions of Congressional intent for private rights of action; i.e. § 215 of  

USA Patriot amends FISA § 501(e) (as amended): “A person who, in good  

faith, produces tangible things under an order pursuant to this section shall  

not be liable to any other person for such production.”  

US District Courts Recognize USA PATRIOT Act Private Rights of Action 

 It is unclear how the Novation defendants state such a clearly erroneous 

assertion as the non existence of private rights of action under the USA 

PATRIOT Act when it is contradicted by case law: 

“Section 315 of the Patriot Act amends and expands 18 U.S.C. § 
1956(c)(7), a RICO provision that establishes money-laundering as a 
predicate act. Pub.L. No. 107-56, § 315; or 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).”  
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European Community v. Japan Tobacco, Inc., 186 F.Supp.2d 231 at pg. 

238 (E.D.N.Y., 2002).  

“…as part of the USA-PATRIOT Act, the Congress again amended § 2520 
to add that an aggrieved party could recover from an intercepting "person or 
entity, other than the United States." Pub.L. No. 107-56, § 223, 115 Stat. 
293, 384”  
 

Williams v. City of Tulsa, Ok, 393 F.Supp.2d 1124 (N.D. Okla., 2005) 

“Finally, section 2520(a) was again amended in 2001 by the USA Patriot 
Act, which added the phrase "other than the United States" following 
"person or entity." See Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing 
Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism (USA 
PATRIOT ACT) Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-56, 115 Stat. 272 (2001). 
Thus, as currently enacted, section 2520(a) states that "any person whose 
wire, oral, or electronic communication is intercepted, disclosed, or 
intentionally used in violation of this chapter may in a civil action recover 
from the person or entity, other than the United States, which engaged in 
that violation such relief as may be appropriate." 18 U.S.C.A. § 2520(a) 
(West Supp. 2003) (emphasis added).”  
 

Huber v. North Carolina State University, No. COA03-145 (N.C. App. 

4/20/2004) (N.C. App., 2004). 

“3. Moreover, Plaintiff’s recent procedural machinations have further 
demonstrated that this case has been brought in bad faith.” 
 

The complaint alleges the Novation defendants knew of and participated 

in the efforts to deny the plaintiff legal representation. The Novation defendants 

overtly participated in a pleading to prevent Sam Lipari from being substituted. In 

evaluating a dismissal the allegations in the complaint are taken as true. The 

question of dismissal does not concern the conduct of the plaintiff to avoid 

injustly being deprived of redress through representation. 

Conclusion 
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The motion for oral hearing adequately demonstrates that the further 

advocacy of the Novation defendants would not aid a law based resolution of the 

appropriateness of dismissal. Additionally, no discovery has been granted and 

would be required to amend the plaintiff’s complaint to address any deficiencies 

in pleading. The plaintiff respectfully requests that the court deny the Novation 

defendants’ motion for oral hearing. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Dennis Hawver 
______________________ 
Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
6993 Highway 92 
Ozawkie, Kansas 66070 
Telephone (785) 876 2233 
Fax (785) 876 3038 
hawverlaw@direcway.com 
Attorney for Medical Supply Chain 
And Samuel K. Lipari 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Certificate of Service 
 

 I certify that on March 5th,  2006 I have served the foregoing with the clerk 
of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic 
filing to the  following: 
 
Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & 
Kilroy, P.C.  1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, 
Missouri  64105-1929       
 
Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian 
Creek Parkway  Overland Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 
(FAX) 
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John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  
1200 Main Street  Kansas City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General 
Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & 
Elliott  34th Floor  50 California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 
First City Tower  1001 Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 
 

/s/ Dennis Hawver 
_____________________ 
Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
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BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT 

  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Medical Supply, having lost a prospective injunctive relief action against a 

subset of alleged hospital supply co-conspirators brought the present action for 

damages against the same and additional co-conspirators resulting from their 

subsequent conduct, including conduct to interfere with Medical Supply’s 

litigation.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 
 Medical Supply’s complaint begins with a three-page outline that states the 

specific numbered sections where averments of facts supporting the required 

elements of Medical Supply’s claims are stated.  

 At ¶¶107-108 aplt. app. at pgs. 36-39 Medical Supply states the controlling 

case law giving legal jurisdiction for Medical Supply’s current action for damages 

after earlier failing to obtain prospective relief.  

 Medical Supply’s current action does not seek to undo orders made in 

Medical Supply I. 

 No final judgment on Medical Supply’s claims was entered in Medical 
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Supply I, the earlier action for prospective relief. Pg. 1952. 

 The trial court in Medical Supply I expressly dismissed supplemental 

Medical Supply claims related to contract and theft of trade secrets without 

prejudice and those claims were brought in Missouri state court by Samuel Lipari 

pro se and were subsequently removed by the defendants to Western District of 

Missouri, the court where they were previously filed as part of the current claim or 

controversy. Aplt. App. at 2432. 

 Lipari is seeking remand based on the argument removal was improper. Aplt. 

App. at 2511. 

 The trial court dismissed Medical Supply’s current federal claims for failing 

to sufficiently plead the elements. No discovery has been granted in this or the 

preceding actions.  

 The following is an incomplete set of averments from the complaint (Aplt. 

App. at 36-151) that are listed relative to the subheadings identified by controlling 

precedent as the elements for sufficiently pleading the underlined claims: 

Sherman Act § 1:  

 
(1) a contract, combination, or conspiracy among two or more indep. actors;  

 
 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges with detailed facts the formation of a 

cartel in the combination of the former competitors Novation, LLC, Neoforma, 

Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association and University 

Healthsystem Consortium for the purpose of creating Exclusionary Contracts and 

Loyalty Agreements to restrain trade in  ¶¶178-220 pgs. 86-95. 
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(2) that unreasonably restrains trade;   

 
In ¶¶ 255 –309 pgs. 86-109 Medical Supply’s complaint describes the 

defendants’ concerted refusal to deal in denying the agreed escrow accounts 

Medical Supply and the Independence, Missouri US Bank branch had planned to 

capitalize Medical Supply’s entry into the hospital supply market ( alleged to be 

group boycott a per se unreasonable restraint of trade). 

In ¶¶ 337-369 pgs. 98-107 Medical Supply’s complaint describes the 

defendants’ concerted refusal to deal in concerted effort with the non defendant 

alleged co-conspirators GE And GHX, LLC to act against their own short term 

profit interest and in knowing coordination with Neoforma, Inc. in an intentional 

effort to deprive Medical Supply in June 2003 of its contracted or bargained for 

capitalization of $350,000.00 to enter the market for hospital supplies ( alleged to 

be group boycott a per se unreasonable restraint of trade). 

In ¶¶ 203-210, pgs. 74-76 ¶¶ 386-396 pgs. 112-113 Medical Supply’s 

complaint describes the defendants’ product tying arrangements (alleged illegal 

product tying arrangements a per se unreasonable restraint of trade). 

In ¶¶ 419-422 pgs. 118-119 Medical Supply’s complaint describes the 

defendants’ plans to merge the direct competitors Neoforma with GHX LLC to 

monopolize all of the product market for hospital supplies delivered though 

electronic supply chain systems in the nation (alleged to be combination to restrain 

trade horizontally a per se unreasonable restraint of trade). 

(3) is in, or substantially affects, interstate commerce 
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 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges a substantial harm to consumers, 

hospitals, nursing homes, state governments, national health insurance plans and 

thousands of lost lives from decreased access to healthcare resulting from 

artificially inflated prices, ¶¶59-89 pgs. 46-51. 

Sherman Act § 2: Monopolization 

 
(1) the possession of monopoly power  

 Medical Supply Chain’s complaint  at ¶¶ 380, 438 pgs. 111, 122 alleged 

power over a controlling market share of hospital supplies, ¶ 455 pg. 127 power 

through long term exclusive dealing contracts to maintain higher prices. 

   Medical Supply Chain’s complaint at ¶¶ 36, 50, 502  alleged power to 

dominate early stage capitalization. 

Medical Supply Chain’s complaint  at ¶¶ 420, 467, 502  alleged power over 

80% of hospital supplies through supply chain systems by merging Neoforma with 

GHX LLC. 

a. ability to control prices 

Medical Supply Chain’s complaint  at ¶¶ 122, 208, 216  alleged power to 

extract kickbacks. 

 Medical Supply Chain’s complaint  at ¶¶ 116, 120, 129, 137, 139, 149, 152,  

161, 221, 365, 380, 438, 455 alleged power to maintain higher prices. 

b. exclude competition 
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Medical Supply Chain’s complaint  at ¶¶ 56, 148, 181, 208 386, 387, 434 

alleged power to exclude competition. 

Medical Supply Chain’s complaint at ¶207 alleged power to force tying 

arrangements . 

(2) in the relevant market 

 Medical Supply Chain’s complaint under heading # 2 “The Relative 

Markets” at pg. 41 identified two relevant product markets and the upstream 

capitalization services market: 

i. relevant products  

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges the first relevant product market in ¶¶ 

33-36 pg. 24 as goods in the 1.8 trillion dollar hospital supply market. 

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges the second relevant product market in 

¶¶ 37-41 pg. 24 as hospital supply products distributed through artificial 

intelligence enhanced supply chain systems utilizing the internet.  

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges the third relevant product market in ¶¶ 

42-46 pg. 43 as capitalization services for new technology companies seeking to 

finance entry into the hospital supply market. 

ii. geographic markets 

 
Medical Supply’s complaint alleges all three relevant product markets to be 

national; sub heading a and ¶¶ 33, 36 on pg. 42 for the first relevant market of 

hospital supplies and sub headings b, c and ¶¶ 46 on pg. 43 for the second and 
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third relevant markets of hospital supplies through electronic supply chain 

management systems and new healthcare technology companies respectively. 

(2) the willful acquisition or maintenance of that power  

 
Medical Supply alleges ongoing conduct to acquire and maintain monopoly 

power through anticompetitive practices by the defendants nationwide in the three 

identified relevant product markets in ¶¶ 47-56 pgs. 43-45 through a scheme to 

falsely state price savings to member hospitals annually to conceal increased costs 

from kickbacks that originated October 24,1979 and continues to the present ¶¶ 

109-133 pgs.55-60; through a marketing scheme by the named defendants using 

commercial bribes through remunerations to healthcare systems under contracts in 

violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b ¶¶ 134-145; 

through combination and conspiracies among the defendants to exclude 

competitors from the market for hospital supplies and the market for hospital 

supplies through electronic supply chain systems; through using the data obtained 

to enforce the cartel’s increased prices among suppliers allowed in to the cartel’s 

distribution network ¶¶ 146-151; through syndicates to make markets in initial 

offerings to capitalize healthcare technology companies, control which firms 

would be allowed into the distribution network and consequently be attractive to 

stock investors, to extort equity from new firms entering the hospital supply 

market and to force the management of Neoforma to compromise the interests of 

its investors, violate its prospectus and not to compete with Novation, VHA and 
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UHC ¶¶ 151-161 pgs.45-47; and illegal tying arrangements ¶¶ 203-210, ¶¶ 386-

396. 

Sherman 2 Unilateral refusal to deal ¶¶ 492-495; 

Sherman Act § 2: Conspiracy to Monopolize 

 
(1) a combination or conspiracy to monopolize;  

Medical Supply alleged specific agreements in paragraphs  ¶¶ 178-218 to 

combine forces between competitors in a conspiracy to monopolize hospital 

supplies, hospital supplies delivered through electronic supply chain systems and 

the upstream capitalization of new technology suppliers entering the market for 

hospital supplies. 

(2) overt acts done in furtherance of the combination or conspiracy;  

Medical Supply alleged specific acts in paragraphs  ¶¶ 455-465 to further 

the conspiracy or combination. 

(3) an effect upon an appreciable amount of  interstate commerce;  

Medical Supply alleged a staggering effect on interstate commerce from the 

monopolization in paragraphs  ¶¶ 47-94. 

(4) a specific intent to monopolize 

Medical Supply alleged a specific intent to monopolize in ¶¶ 419-422 

describes the planned merger between Neoforma and GHX LLC to monopolize 

hospital supplies distributed through electronic supply chain systems. 

Section 8 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19 

(1) one person serves as a director of two or more corporations;  
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Medical Supply alleged specific information about exchange of directors. 

Including the in ¶176 non defendant co-conspirator ( defendant Novation 

subsidiary ¶378) Cardinal Health, Inc.’s Robert Zollars, and joined Neoforma, Inc 

as CEO (¶13). In ¶ 235 Medical Supply’s complaint describes the defendants’ 

placement of defendant VHA designees on two of the seven seats on the defendant 

Neoforma board of directors, ¶ 368 describes US Bancorp’s interlocking 

directorships and an exchange of directors with the two dominant GPO founders 

of GHX LLC the Defendant Novation and Premier, ¶ 372 describes how the 

defendants through The Piper Jaffray Companies subsidiary Piper Jaffray 

Ventures actively participated in and held seats on the boards of directors of their 

client companies, facilitating the monopolization of the markets for hospital 

supplies and hospital supplies in e-commerce, ¶ 424 describes how The Piper 

Jaffray Companies exchanged directors with Novation. 

(2) the combined capital of any corporation exceeds $1 million; 

 

Medical Supply’s complaint at ¶ 55 states that two of the companies the 

complaint alleges defendants exchanged directors with Premier and Novation 

negotiated contracts worth more than $30 billion, ¶376 states Novation does $36 

billion dollars in sales annually, ¶372 states that Piper Jaffray Ventures had $225 

million dollars under management, ¶377 states that Neoforma has $10 billion in 

sales and receives $ 62 Million a year from Novation. Subheading 11 states 
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Neoforma is worth $150 Million dollars. Subheading 11 states Piper Jaffray is 

worth $750 Million dollars. 

(3) each corporation is engaged in whole or in part in interstate commerce;  

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges the defendants engage in interstate 

commerce ¶¶ 33, 36 and sub headings b, c and ¶ 46 sub heading f , ¶ 376.  

(4) the corporations compete with one another 
 

Medical Supply’s complaint describes the defendants’ elimination of 

competition amongst each other after exchanging directors in ¶¶ 40, 147, 378, 150, 

181, 191, 376, 378, 455, 457, 458, 464, 466, 500.  

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (RICO) 

 
(1) participated in the conduct  

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges at ¶¶430, 488, 507, 573, 574, that 

specifically named defendants participated in the operation and management of the 

hospital group purchasing enterprise to artificially inflate prices paid by Medicare, 

Medicaid and Champus. The complaint alleges that the defendants created 

agreements through unlawful acts and that Shughart Thomson & Kilroy later 

became part of that enterprise ¶512. 

(2) of an enterprise  

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges at ¶¶151-152, 159-161 that US 

Bancorp, US Bank, Andrew Cesere, Jerry Grundhoffer, Piper Jaffray and Andrew 

S. Duff took over Neoforma, Inc. and ran it counter to Neoforma’s business plan 

and prospectus and against the interests of its investors for the purposes of 
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furthering the RICO enterpise scheme to overcharge government and private 

insurers for hospital supply costs.  

(3) through a pattern  

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges more than two predicate acts in 

furtherance of the Defendants’ enterprise. Over 14 acts are listed infra: 

(4) of racketeering activity: 

i.  18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) Hobbs Act Prohibited Extortion 

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges theft of trade secrets at ¶¶297, 316-322 

theft of trade secrets to obstruct Medical Supply’s entry into the hospital supply 

market in violation Hobbs Act. 

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges extortion at ¶¶171, 180, 198, 210, 211, 

213, 215, 219, 368, 369, 399-406, 414, 416-418, 479-482-485, 488, 490. 

i.  18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) Commercial Bribery 

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges commercial bribes ¶¶ 141-143 (HRDI 

scheme)184, 210, 211. 

In ¶143 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt 

Nonomaque, VHA and Novation LLC have made use of payments to a third party 

in which hospital CEO’s are stakeholders in order to conceal the commercial bribe 

nature of the payments through Healthcare Research and Development Institute 

(“HRDI”)  

ii.  18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) Fraud based Allegations subject to Rule 9 
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Medical Supply pled fraudulent RICO predicate acts describing who, what, 

where and when misrepresentations were made and how they materially deceived 

to further the enterprise and injure Medical Supply in ¶ 268 Fraudulent failure to 

reveal US Bancorp’s ownership of the treasury fund selected for escrow accounts, 

despite fiduciary relationship; ¶¶275, 278 Fraud pretext of USA PATRIOT ACT; 

and ¶¶392-396 Novation’s creation and use of a fraudulent Surgical Instrument 

savings calculator software program, ¶ 126 Novation’s inflated system wide 

savings report for 2005.  

In ¶ 152 the complaint identified US Bancorp, US Bank, Andrew Cesere, 

Jerry Grundhoffer, Piper Jaffray and Andrew S. Duff benefit from Piper Jaffray’s 

false recommendations on Neoforma that  US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray were 

fined and paid $32.5 million fine to settle these securities fraud charges brought by 

with the SEC, NASD, NYSE, NASAA, and the New York Attorney General for 

the fraudulent research. 

Association in Fact Enterprise 

(1) union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity 

 The group purchasing enterprise alleged was different than the defendants’ 

corporate and subsidiary relationships and included the companies Novation LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc. VHA and UHC that had partial ownership in each other, but also 

included US Bancorp, US Bank and the Piper Jaffray companies which were 

independent legally of the first set of companies. Medical Supply also alleged the 

enterprise to include General Electric, HRDI and Shughart Thomson & Kilroy 
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which had no common ownership with the other entities. See ¶¶ 141-143, 151-

153, and 365-369. 

(2) some type of organizational structure 

Medical Supply at ¶¶147-153 describes the organizational structure of the 

group purchasing enterprise. Each defendant’s role in the group purchasing 

enterprise is described throughout the complaint. 

(3) operation and control of the Enterprise 

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges at ¶¶580-581 that Shughart Thomson 

& Kilroy created the plan to retaliate against Medical Supply outside of the 

courtroom and implemented the plan, carrying out operations to assist in 

accomplishing the group purchasing enterprise’s objectives.  

18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) (RICO) Conspiracy: 

(1) independent violation of subsections (a), (b), or (c) 

Medical Supply’s complaint alleges the above independent violations of 18 

U.S.C. § 1962(c) theft of trade secrets at ¶¶297, 316-322 theft of trade secrets to 

obstruct Medical Supply’s entry into the hospital supply market in violation Hobbs 

Act. Medical Supply’s complaint alleges extortion at ¶¶171, 180, 198, 210, 211, 

213, 215, 219, 368, 369, 399-406, 414, 416-418, 479-482-485, 488, 490. Medical 

Supply’s complaint alleges commercial bribes ¶¶ 141-143 (HRDI scheme)184, 

210, 211. 

(2) conspiracy to violate 
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Medical Supply’s complaint alleges conspiracy to violate RICO at ¶¶ 347, 

370, 374, 398, 404-407, 428, 430, 487, 549. 

(3) knowing participation  

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges knowing participation at ¶¶ 410, 425, 

427, 430, 488, and 549. 

(4) at the direction of defendant co-conspirators: 

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges conduct directed by coconspirators at 

¶¶ 405, 413, and 488. 

 (5) specificity what the agreement was,  

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges specifically the agreement or scheme-

the over arching plan to illegally inflate hospital supply costs to overcharge 

government and private health insurers was at ¶¶ 109-130, 430, 573. 

(6) who entered into the agreement,  

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges what persons and entities entered into 

the agreement at  ¶¶ 141-143, 151-153, 365-369,  and at ¶¶ 410, 425, 427, 430, 

488, and 549. 

(7) the agreement commenced,  

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges at ¶ 573 that “The Defendants targeted 

Medical Supply’s founder in 1995 and targeted Medical Supply upon its 

incorporation in 2000” and that the coconspirators renewed their agreement 

commencing at ¶ 430 “…in the period from December 14, 2004 to February 3rd, 

2005.” 
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(8) what actions were taken in furtherance of it 

 Medical Supply’s complaint alleges actions in furtherance of the conspiracy  

at ¶¶ 413-418, 580-592. 

 Medical Supply’s supplemental state law claims against GE from Medical 

Supply II were improperly removed from Missouri 16th Circuit State Court at 

Independence, Missouri to the Western District of Missouri court of Hon. Judge 

Fernando J. Gaitan, Jr. whose disclosure stated was on the board of St. Luke’s 

Healthcare System, a Lee’s Summit Missouri hospital that co-owns the defendant 

VHA and the defendant Novation. See pg. 2523. 

 Hon. Senator Mike DeWine, the chair of the US Senate Judiciary 

Committee's Antitrust Subcommittee hearing that during the fourth year of 

antitrust hearings on the defendant Novation’s anticompetitive conduct in the 

hospital supply market concluded Novation’s abuses could be better corrected 

with private antitrust litigation than with new legislation ¶95 on pg.52. Senator 

Mike DeWine lost his re-election on November 4, 2006. The senator from 

Missouri, Hon. Jim Talent also lost his seat in part because of the healthcare issue. 

See KC Star Buzz Blog Sept 29, 2006 CAMPAIGN AD BUZZ | McCaskill 

criticizes Talent on Medicaid. 

On December 12, 2006 Hon. Judge Fernando J. Gaitan, Jr. remanded the 

action back to state court for lack of federal jurisdiction. A jury trial is scheduled 

for October 29th, 2007. 
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President George Bush who has observed that there is an absence of 

competition in healthcare (¶47 on pg.43) came to St. Luke’s Health System in 

Lee’s Summit, Missouri with Secretary of Health and Human Services Michael 

Leavitt, two days after the State of the Union speech to personally initiate the 

administration’s plan to make healthcare affordable. Office of the President, 

January 25, 2007 press release. 

Governor Matt Blunt described in the complaint ¶85 at pg. 50 as having to 

cut Missouri citizens from Medicaid because of hospital supply cost increases, 

made healthcare the central priority of his State of the State speech but on January 

25th chose to speak about healthcare at other Missouri communities rather than 

appear with President George Bush in Lee’s Summit. Office of the President, 

January 25, 2007 press release Comments of Secretary Leavitt. 

On the same day, the New York Times reported that the Attorney General 

for the State of Connecticut, Richard Blumenthal reached a settlement with 

H.R.D.I. that Medical Supply identified as a co-conspirator but did not name as  a 

defendant over the commercial bribes given to hospital administrators ¶¶ 141-143 

pg. 61. H.R.D.I. agreed to end operations as a for profit company. “Group Settles 

Health Sales Conflict Case”, NY Times Jan. 25, 2007 

 US Bancorp and US Bank NA removed the supplemental state claims in the 

present action to the Western District of Missouri court of Hon. Judge Fernando J. 

Gaitan, Jr.. Medical Supply filed a timely motion for remand alleging improper 

removal which is awaiting a decision. See pg. 2511. 


